### UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

The Relative Importance of Fuels and Weather on Fire Behaviour in Subalpine Forests in the Southern Canadian Rocky Mountains

by

Wayne Christopher Bessie

### A THESIS

# SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

# DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES

CALGARY, ALBERTA

MAY 26, 1993

© Wayne Christopher Bessie 1993



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your lile Votre rélérence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of reproduce, Canada to loan. distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à la disposition des personnes intéressées.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission. L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-88474-6



ŕ

Name <u>*Mayne Christopher Bessie*</u> Dissertation Abstracts International is arranged by broad, general subject categories. Please select the one subject which most nearly describes the content of your dissertation. Enter the corresponding four-digit code in the spaces provided.

Ecology

SUBJECT TERM

2 α SUBJECT CODE

### Subject Categories

### THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

#### COMMUNICATIONS AND THE ARTS

Architecture	07 29
Art History	0377
Cinema	0900
Dance	0378
Fine Arts	0357
Information Science	0723
Journalism	0391
Library Science	0399
Mass Communications	0708
Music	0413
Speech Communication	0459
Theater	0465

#### EDUCATION

General	0515
Administration	0514
Adult and Continuing	0516
Agricultural	0517
	0273
Rilingual and Multicultural	0282
Dillingual and Molliconoral	0202
Comments	0000
Community College	02/3
Curriculum and Instruction	0/2/
Early Childhood	0218
Elementary	0524
Finance	0277
Guidance and Counseling	0519
Health	0680
Higher	0745
History of	0520
Home Economics	0278
Industrial	0521
Language and Literature	0270
Malla and Literature	02/7
Mainematics	0200
MUSIC	USZZ
Philosophy of	0998
Physical	0523

#### Psychology ..... .0527 0714 Sciences Social Sciences Sociology of Special Teacher Training Technology Tests and Measurements Vocational 0533 .0534 .0530 0710 0288 0747

### LANGUAGE, LITERATURE AND LINGUISTICS

Language	
General	0679
Ancient	0289
Linquistics	0290
Modern	0201
litoraturo	
Conord	0401
Clearitard	
	0294
Comparative	0293
Medieval	0297
Modern	0298
African	0316
American	0591
Asian	030
Canadian (English)	035
Canadian (Eronch)	035
English	
Germanic	
Latin American	0312
Middle Eastern	031
Romance	031:
Slavic and East European	0314
•	

### PHILOSOPHY, RELIGION AND

THEOLOGY	
Philosophy0422	
Religion	
General0318	
Biblical Studies0321	
Clergy	
History of	
Philosophy of0322	
Ineology	
SOCIAL SCIENCES	
American Studies 0323	
Anthropology	
Archaeology0324	
Cultural	
Physical	
Business Administration	
General	
Accounting	
Banking0770	
Management	
Marketing	
Economics	
General 0501	
Agricultural 0503	
Commerce-Business 0505	
Finance	
History	
Labor	
Theory0511	
Folklore	
Geography	
Gerontology0351	
History	
General0578	

Ancient	05	79
Modioval	05	άí
	05	21
Modern	02	ö۲
Black	03	28
Atrican	03	31
Asia, Australia and Oceania	03	32
Canadian	03	37
Furonean	03	25
	22	32
Latin American	03	30
Middle Eastern	03	33
United States	03	37
History of Science	05	85
Law	03	98
Political Science		
General	06	15
International Law and	00	10
Deletione	~2	1 2
	200	19
Public Administration	00	17
Recreation	08	14
Social Work	.04	52
Sociology		
General	06	26
Criminology and Penology	04	27
Domography	200	20
Demography	07	20
Emnic and Racial Studies	00	31
Individual and Family		
Studies	06	28
Industrial and Labor		
Relations	06	29
Public and Social Welfare	06	30
Social Structure and		00
Development	07	~~
Development	0/	ųΫ
Ineory and Methods	03	44
Iransportation	07	09
Urban and Regional Planning	.09	99
Women's Studies	04	53

# THE SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING

A 170

#### **BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES** Agriculture

	General	04/3
	Aaronomy	0285
	Animal Culture and	
	Nutrition	0475
		0475
	Animal Pathology	04/6
	Food Science and	
	Technology	0359
	Forestry and Wildlife	0478
	Plant Culture	0470
		04/7
	Plant Pathology	0480
	Plant Physiology	0817
	Range Management	0777
	Wood Technology	0746
D:-	wood reemology	0/40
DIO	logy	000/
	General	0300
	Anatomy	0287
	Biostatistics	0308
	Botany	0309
	Coll	0370
		0220
	Ecology	0329
	Entomology	0353
	Genetics	0369
	Limnology	0793
	Microbiology	0410
	Molocular	0307
	Molecolul	0007
	Neuroscience	0317
	Oceanography	0416
	Physiology	0433
	Radiation	0821
	Veteringny Science	0778
	Zalary Science	0172
<b>n</b> •	200iogy	0472
Rio	physics	
	General	0786
	Medical	0760

### **EARTH SCIENCES**

Biogeochemi	stry	0425
Geochemistr	y	0996

Geodesy	.0370
Geologý	.0372
Geophysics	.0373
Hydrology	.0388
Mineralogy	.0411
Paleobotany	.0345
Paleoecology	.0426
Paleontologý	.0418
Paleozoology	.0985
Palynology	.0427
Phýsical Geography	.0368
Physical Oceanography	.0415
· · · · ·	

# HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES

SCIENCES	
Environmental Sciences	.0768
Health Sciences	
General	0566
Audiology	0300
Chamotherapy	.0000
Destister	0547
Education	.0360
	.0330
Hospital Management	.0709
Human Development	.0/58
Immunology	.0982
Medicine and Surgery	.0564
Mental Health	.0347
Nursing	.0569
Nutrition	.0570
Obstetrics and Gynecology .	.0380
Occupational Health and	
Therapy	0354
Ophthalmology	0381
Pathology	0571
Pharmagalanu	0310
Pharmacology	0570
Filarmacy	.05/2
Physical Inerapy	.0382
Public Health	.05/3
Kadiology	.0574
Recreation	.0575

Speech Pathology	0'460
Toxicology	0383
Home Economics	0386

### **PHYSICAL SCIENCES**

### **Pure Sciences**

Chemistry	
General	.0485
Aaricultural	.0749
Analytical	.0486
Biochemistry	.0487
Inorganic	0488
Nuclear	.0738
Organic	.0490
Pharmaceutical	.0491
Physical	.0494
Polymer	.0495
Radiation	.0754
Mathematics	.0405
Physics	
General	.0605
Acoustics	.0986
Astronomy and	
Astrophysics	.0606
Atmospheric Science	.0608
Atomic	.0748
Electronics and Electricity	.0607
Elementary Particles and	
High Energy	.0798
Fluid and Plasma	.0/59
Molecular	.0609
Nuclear	.0610
Optics	.0/52
Radiation	.0/56
Solid State	.0611
Statistics	.0463
Applied Sciences	
Applied Mechanics	.0346
Computer Science	.0984

Engineering	
General	.0537
Aerospace	0538
Agricultural	0530
Automotivo	0540
Piemodical	0540
	.0541
	.0542
Givil	.0543
Electronics and Electrical	.0544
Heat and Thermodynamics	.0348
Hydraulic	.0545
Industrial	0546
Marine	0547
Materials Science	0704
Malerial Machanical	0540
Mechanical	.0340
Merallurgy	.0/43
Mining	.0551
Nuçlear	.0552
Packaging	.0549
Petroleum	.0765
Sanitary and Municipal	0554
System Science	0790
Geotochnology	· 0/ /0
Operations Pressed	0704
Directions Research	.0790
Liasilics lecunology	.0/95
lexille lechnology	.0994

### PSYCHOLOGY

E

General	
Behavioral	
Clinical	
Developmental	
Experimental	
ndustrial	
Personality	
Physiological	
Psychobiology	
Psychometrics	
Social	045

 $(\mathbf{R})$ 

Dissertation Abstracts International est organisé en catégories de sujets. Veuillez s.v.p. choisir le sujet qui décrit le mieux votre thèse et inscrivez le code numérique approprié dans l'espace réservé ci-dessous.

SUJET

CODE DE SUJET

Ancienne .....

### Catégories par sujets

### **HUMANITÉS ET SCIENCES SOCIALES**

### **COMMUNICATIONS ET LES ARTS**

Architecture	0729
Beaux-arts	0357
Bibliothéconomie	0399
Cinéma	0900
Communication verbale	0459
Communications	0708
Danse	0378
Histoire de l'art	0377
lournalisme	0391
Musique	0413
Sciences de l'information	0723
Tháôtra	0465

### ÉDUCATION

Généralités	515
Administration	0514
Art	0273
Collèges communautaires	0275
Commerce	0688
Économie domestique	0278
Éducation permanente	0516
Éducation préscolaire	0518
Éducation sanitaire	0680
Enseignement garicole	0517
Enseignement bilingue et	0017
multiculturel	0282
Encoignoment industrial	0521
Enseignement nrimgire	0524
Enseignement professionnel	0747
Enseignement roligioux	0527
Enseignement rengieux	0522
Enseignement secondaire	0000
Enseignement special	0745
Enseignement superieur	0745
Evaluation	0288
Finances	02//
Formation des enseignants	0530
Histoire de l'éducation	0520
Langues et littérature	0279

# .0535

### LANGUE, LITTÉRATURE ET LINGUISTIQUE

Langues	
Généralités	0679
Anciennes	0289
Linguistique	0290
Modernes	0291
Littérature	
Généralités	0401
Anciennes	0294
Comparée	0295
Mediévale	0297
Moderne	0298
Africaine	0316
Américaine	0591
Analaise	0593
Asiatique	0305
Canadienne (Analaise)	0352
Canadienne (Francaise)	0355
Germanique	0311
Latino-américaino	0312
Mayon orientale	0315
Pamana	0313
Clause et est européenne	0214
Siuve ei est-europeenne	0314

# PHILOSOPHIE, RELIGION ET THEOLOGIE

Philosophie	0422
Religion	
Généralités	0318
Cleraé	0319
Études bibliques	0321
Histoire des religions	0320
Philosophie de la religion	0322
Théologie	0469

### SCIENCES SOCIALES

SCIFICED DOCIVERD	
Anthropologie	
Archéologia 0324	
Archeologie	
Culturelle	
Physique 0327	
D14 0200	
Violit	
Economie	
Généralités 0501	
Commerce Affeires 0505	
Commerce-Andres	
Economie agricole	
Économie du travail 0510	
Contract of a station in the state of the st	
Finances	
Histoire	
Théorie 0511	
Études au établication (0000	
ciudes americaines	
Eludes canadiennes	
Études féministes 0453	
Falklara 0359	
Folklore	
Geographie	
Gérontologie 0351	
Contion dos affairos	
Gesilon des diluites	
Généralités	
Administration 0454	
Program 0770	
Duriques	
Comptabilité	
Marketina 0338	
Listaire	
risione orro	
Histoire générale	

# Médiévale ..... 0581

# SCIENCES ET INGÉNIERIE

### **SCIENCES BIOLOGIQUES**

Generalites	.04/3
Agronomie	0285
Alimentation et technologie	
Annemation en technologie	0250
dimentaire	0337
Culture	.04/9
Elevage et alimentation	0475
Exploitation des péturages	.0777
Pathologie animale	0476
Pathologic vágótalo	0480
Plusial anti- vegetule	0017
Frysiologie vegelale	0.170
Sylviculture et taune	.04/8
Technologie du bois	.0/46
Biologie	
Généralités	. 0306
Anatomie	0287
Pielegie (Statisticus)	0200
biologie (Sidiisiidues)	.0300
Prologie moleculaire	.030/
Botanique	0309
Çellule	.0379
Écologie	0329
Entomologie	.0353
Génétique	0369
Limpologia	0793
Microbiologie	0/10
Micropiologie	.0410
Neurologie	.031/
Oceanographie	
Physiologie	0433
Radiation	0821
Science vétéringire	0778
Zoologie	0472
Biophysique	
Généralitée	0784
	0740
Medicale	.0/60
SCIENCES DE LA TERRE	

# Agriculture 473 285

Géologie	.0372
Géophysique	.0373
Hydrologie	.0388
Minéralogie	.0411
Océanographie physique	.0415
Paléobotanique	.0345
Paléoécologie	.0426
Paléontologie	.0418
Paléozoologie	.0985
Palvnoloaie	.0427

### SCIENCES DE LA SANTÉ ET DE L'ENVIRONNEMENT

7	
Economie domestique	0386
Sciences de l'environnement	0749
Sciences de l'environnement	.0/00
Sciences de la sante	
Généralités	0566
Administration des hinitaux	0769
Alterestet's a stantit's	0,07
Alimentation et nutrition	.05/0
Audiologie	.0300
Chimiothérapie	. 0992
Dentisterie	0567
Décologie en entitione de	0750
Developpement numain	.0/30
Enseignement	0350
Immunologie	0982
loisirs	057
iviedecine du travait et	
thérapie	0354
Médecine et chirurgie	. 0564
Obstétrique et avnécologie	้ กัวิลิต
Obstellige el gynecologie	. 0000
Ophraimologie	
Orthophonie	.0460
Pathologie	. 0571
Pharmacie	0572
Dhanna agelenia	0410
Fuormacologie	.0413
Physiotherapie	.0382
Radiologie	0574
Santá mentale	0347
Canté aublique	057
Source by purdue	.03/3
Soins infirmiers	0565
Toxicologie	. 0383

### SCIENCES PHYSIQUES

Sciences Pures	
Chimie	
Genéralités0485	
Biochimie 487	
Chimie agricole0749	
Chimie analytique0486	
Chimie minérale0488	
Chimie nucléaire0738	
Chimie organique0490	
Chimie pharmaceutique0491	
Physique	
Polymc res	
Radiation	
Mathematiques	
rnysique 0405	
Acoustique 0000	
Actionshippe	
astrophysique 0606	
Electronique et électricité 0607	
Fluides et plasma	
Météorologie	
Optique	
Particules (Physique	
nucléaire)0798	
Physique atomique0748	
Physique de l'état solide0611	
Physique moléculaire	
Physique nucléaire	
Radiation	
Statistiques	
Sciences Appliqués Et	
Technologie	
Informatique 0984	
Ingénierie	
Gónóralitós 0537	

Automobile .....0540

Aaricole

Biomédicale	.0541
Chaleur et ther	
modynamique	.0348
Conditionnement	
(Emballage)	.0549
Génie aérospatial	.0538
Génie chimique	0542
Génie civil	0543
Génie électronique et	
électrique	.0544
Génie industriel	.0546
Génie mécanique	0548
Génie nucléaire	0552
Ingénierie des systämes	0790
Mécanique navale	0547
Métallurgie	0743
Science des matériaux	0794
Technique du pétrole	0765
Technique minière	0551
Techniques sanitaires et	
municipales	0554
Technologie bydraulique	0545
Mécanique appliquée	0346
Géotechnologie	0428
Matières plastiques	, o , p o
(Technologie)	0795
Recherche opérationnelle	0796
Textiles et tissus (Technologie)	0794
······································	
BANANALAANS	

### PSYCHOLOGIE

F

zeneralites	.062
Personnalité	.062
sychobiologie	.0349
sychologie clinique	.0623
sýchologie du comportement	.0384
sychologie du développement .	.0620
sýchologie expérimentale	.0623
sýchologie industrielle	.062
sýchologie physiologique	.0989
sýchologie sociale	.045
sýchomětrie	.0632

# THE UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies for acceptance, a thesis entitled "The Relative Importance of Fuels and Weather on Fire Behaviour in Subalpine Forests in the Southern Canadian Rocky Mountains" submitted by Wayne Christopher Bessie in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

Supervisor, Dr. E.A. Johnson, Dept. of Biological Sciences

Dr. L.D. Harder, Department of Biological Sciences

wheid

Dr. D.M. Reid, Department of Biological Sciences

Dr. S.E. Franklin, Department of Geography

### ABSTRACT

The relative roles of fuel and weather variation in influencing fire behaviour variation was examined using data from subalpine forest stands. Fire behaviour (intensity and crown fire initiation) was predicted from Rothermel's (1972) and Van Wagner's (1977) models. Weather variation was many times more influential than fuel variation in influencing the predicted fire behaviour. Besides considerable seasonal variation, weather also varied importantly among years. Previous large-area-burned years had more days with extreme weather (very dry fuels/high windspeeds) which could lead to high intensity/crown fires, than small-area-burned years. Fuel component variation was much less variable than weather variation. This fuel variation was poorly related to stand age or species composition. Furthermore, this fuel variation has no influence over crowning behaviour once extreme weather conditions are achieved. These relationships demonstrated that fire behaviour and large fire occurrence are influenced primarily by weather conditions rather than fuels.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

APPROVAL PAGE	. ii
ABSTRACT	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF SYMBOLS	ix
INTRODUCTION	1
Surface Fire Intensity Model	3
Crown Fire Initiation Model	6
METHODS	11
Study Area	11
Fuel Inventory and Calculations	16
Weather Data Source and Calculations	23
Surface Fire Intensity Analysis	27
Crown Fire Initiation Analyses	28
Graphical crown fire initiation model	30
Weather Variable Analyses	30
Intensity comparison between large and small fire years	32

•

•

٠

Fuel Variable Analyses	32
Fuel variables and stand age	33
Fuel variables and stand types	34
RESULTS	35
Surface Fire Intensity Analysis	35
Crown Fire Initiation Analyses	35
Graphical crown fire initiation model	37
Weather Variable Analyses	41
Fire intensity comparison between large and small fire years	45
Fuel Variable Analyses	49
Fuel variables and stand age	49
Fuel variables and stand types	53
·	
DISCUSSION	56
CONCLUSION	62
LITERATURE CITED	64
APPENDIX 1 - Stand Fuel Data	69
APPENDIX 2 - WATFOR77 Fire Behaviour Program	75
APPENDIX 3 - WATFOR77 Fuel Moisture Program	81

.

•

•

•

# LIST OF TABLES

.

		PAGE
TABLE 1.	Sampled forest stands listing location, elevation, age (time-since-	
	fire), aspect, density, basal area, slope, overstorey tree percentage	
	composition (by tree density), and stand composition classes.	14
TABLE 2.	Downed wood mass density, quadratic mean diameters, and	
	sample line length for downed wood measurements in	
	Kananaskis, Alberta.	18
TABLE 3a)	Regression equations for shrubs and seedlings in the Kananaskis	
	Valley, Alberta estimating mass of foliage and stems from basal	
	stem diameter.	19
TABLE 3b)	Regression equations for herbaceous plants and prostrate shrubs	
	in the Kananaskis Valley, Alberta estimating fuel load (kg m <sup>-2</sup> )	
	from height (cm), cover (%), and percent dead.	21
TABLE 3c)	Regression equations for litter and moss in the Kananaskis	
	Valley, Alberta estimating fuel load (kg m <sup>-2</sup> ) from depth in cm.	22
TABLE 4.	Conversion percentages to calculate fuel loads in time-lag fuel	
	classes from a) shrub basal stem diameter classes and b) dead	
	wood in measured size classes.	24
TABLE 5.	Standardized values of surface area to volume ratio (cm <sup>-1</sup> ) and	
	fuel layer depth for each surface fuel category.	25

•

TABLE 6.	Regression equations predicting foliage mass (kg) from diameter	
	at breast height (cm) and/or tree height (m) for conifer trees.	26
TABLE 7.	Multiple regression analysis of predicted surface fire intensity for	
	35 years of summer weather data and 47 forest stands in	
	Kananaskis, Alberta, comparing the roles of the surface fuel and	
	weather variables in intensity.	36
TABLE 8.	Multiple logistic regression results for crown fire initiation versus	
	crown fuel and weather variables for 47 stands and weather data	
	from 1968 for a) passive crown fires versus surface fires, b)	
	active crown fires versus passive crown fires only, and c) active	
	crown fires versus surface or passive crown fires.	38
TABLE 9.	Analysis of variance comparison of intensity predictions between	
	large and small-area-burned years.	46
TABLE 10.	Simple regression coefficients of surface and crown fuel variables	
	(log transformed) versus stand age (log transformed) in two sets:	
	all ages and ages $< 25$ y removed.	52
TABLE 11.	Analysis of variance model results followed by Tukey tests	
	where appropriate, comparing the three fuel variables among the	
	three stand types.	55

.

vii

# LIST OF FIGURES

•

	FIGURE 1.	Map of study area in the Kananaskis Valley, with points	
		indicating locations of sampled stands. Inset: forest reserves and	
		national parks in the southern Canadian Rocky Mountains in	
		southwest Alberta and southeast British Columbia.	12
	FIGURE 2.	Crown fire initiation chart which demonstrates the weather and	
		crown fuel variables at which conifer forest stands will achieve	
		passive or active crown fire initiation according to equation 16 of	
		the crown fire model section.	39
	FIGURE 3.	Weather variable frequency distributions (percent frequency of	
		days with weather values within each range class, versus weather	
		variable midpoints of the range classes) for large and small-area-	
		burned years with predicted regression lines.	43
	FIGURE 4.	Mean intensity predictions with 95% confidence limits for each	
		summer fire season (July 01 - August 31) from 1954-1988.	47
	FIGURE 5.	Surface and crown fuel variables plotted against stand age. a)	
		surface fuel variable ( $F_v$ ), b) passive crown fuel variable ( $C_p$ ),	
		c) active crown fuel variable ( $C_a$ ).	50
	FIGURE A1.	Fuel loads (kg m <sup>-2</sup> ) of the litter, 1-hour timelag fuels, 10-hour	
•		timelag fuels, 100-hour timelag fuels, moss/lichen, live herbs,	
		and live shrubs, versus stand age (years).	73

# LIST OF SYMBOLS

SYMBOL	MEANING	UNITS
Greek Symb		
Γ.	optimum combustion rate	s <sup>-1</sup>
З	effective heating number	dimensionless
$\eta_{m}$	moisture damping function	dimensionless
$\eta_s$	mineral damping function	dimensionless
بح	propagating flux ratio	dimensionless
ρ	wood mass density	kg m <sup>-3</sup>
$ ho_{\mathfrak{b}}$	fuel bulk density	kg m <sup>-3</sup>
$ ho_{c}$	fuel bulk density (crown)	kg m <sup>-3</sup>
$\varphi_{s}$	slope coefficient	dimensionless
ф "	wind coefficient	dimensionless

٠

.

# English Symbols

.

$C_p$	passive crown fuel variable	dimensionless
C <sub>a</sub>	active crown fuel variable	dimensionless
$E_v$	environment (weather) variable	dimensionless
F <sub>v</sub>	fuel variable	kW m <sup>-1</sup>
h	heat of combustion	kJ kg <sup>-1</sup>
I	intensity	kW m <sup>-1</sup>

I <sub>p</sub>	passive crown critical intensity	kW m <sup>-1</sup>
I <sub>a</sub>	active crown critical intensity	kW m <sup>-1</sup>
I <sub>R</sub>	reaction intensity	kW m <sup>-2</sup>
Q <sub>f</sub>	forward heat flux	kW m <sup>-2</sup>
$Q_{ig}$	heat of pre-ignition	kJ kg <sup>-1</sup>
Q <sub>d</sub>	heat of pre-ignition of dry fuel	kJ kg <sup>-1</sup>
Q <sub>c</sub>	foliar heat of ignition (crown)	kJ kg <sup>-1</sup>
Q <sub>r</sub>	dry to wet heat of preignition ratio	dimensionless
Qs	fuel heat sink	kJ m <sup>-3</sup>
R	rate of spread	m s <sup>-1</sup>
R <sub>c</sub>	rate of spread (crown fire)	m s <sup>-1</sup>
R <sub>o</sub>	critical rate of spread (crown fire)	m s <sup>-1</sup>
S <sub>o</sub>	critical crown fire mass flow rate	kg m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>
t <sub>r</sub>	flame residence time	S ·
W <sub>n</sub>	net fuel load	kg m <sup>-2</sup>
z	lower crown base height	m

### INTRODUCTION

A traditional theory in forest fire ecology holds that fire behaviour (e.g. rate of spread and intensity) is a plant community attribute (Mutch 1970). Fuel load increases and structural changes which occur as stands age are believed to increase the intensity of surface fires and/or lead to increased crown fire occurrence (Despain 1990, Lotan et al. 1985, Romme and Knight 1981, Despain and Sellers 1977, Heinselman 1973, Habeck and Mutch 1973), but there is no formalized mechanism which explains these ideas. Fire behaviour is also believed to vary among stand types within the closedcanopy subalpine forest due to differences in tree architecture and/or fuel accumulation (e.g. Renkin and Despain 1992). Furthermore, fuel differences which are thought to lead to increased fire intensity are also thought to increase the probability of occurrence of fires and the fire frequency in older stands or various stand types (Despain 1990, Clark 1988). By avoiding the quantitative mechanisms which link fuels to fire behaviour, the above beliefs discount the important role played by weather in fires. Fire behaviour and fire frequency are closely related to temporal or regional variation in fuel moisture (Johnson and Wowchuk 1993, Johnson and Larsen 1991, Masters 1990, Swetnam and Betancourt 1990, Clark 1989) and high intensity wildfires are strongly associated with high winds and low moisture, such that fire spread patterns appear unrelated to fuel (or age) differences among stands during large fire events (Fryer and Johnson 1988, Johnson and Larsen 1991, Simard et al. 1983).

The purpose here is to assess the relative roles played by weather (fuel moisture

content and windspeed) and fuel (fuel loads by size classes) in forest fire behaviour. Empirical fuel and weather data from lower subalpine forests in the southern Canadian Rocky Mountains are used to model fire intensity and crown fire initiation with Rothermel's (1972) surface fire intensity model and Van Wagner's (1977) crown fire initiation model. These models are chosen because both models allow the roles of fuel components to be quantitatively separated from the role of weather components. After separation, the fuel and weather components are used to define collective fuel and weather variables which are used to determine the relative contribution of variation in fuel loads, crown structure, and weather on the variation in predicted surface fire intensity and crown fire initiation. The variables also permit the quantitative examination of the role of weather in determining annual area burned classes (large and small-area-burned years sensu Johnson and Wowchuk 1993), and the relationship between stand age or stand composition and fuel induced changes to fire behaviour. Fire behaviour modelling provides an objective approach to determine the role of fuel and weather in fire behaviour because of the direct linkages made to the fire behaviour mechanisms. Also, unlike some previous studies (Keane et al. 1990, Agee and Huff 1987), fire behaviour is determined over a full range of weather possibilities rather than a single weather condition, such that the variation in the weather is properly expressed in the analyses performed.

The objective of this thesis is to answer the following three questions:

1. What are the relative roles of fuel and weather in surface fire intensity and crown fire initiation?

- 2. Why is weather variation so important in determining fire behaviour in the subalpine forest?
- 3. How important is fuel variation associated with stand age or stand type on the fire behaviour in the subalpine forest?

In what follows, it is assumed that the reader is familiar with concepts of forest fire behaviour; if not, refer to Van Wagner (1980) for a discussion.

### Surface Fire Intensity Model

Rothermel's (1972) model predicts surface forest fire rate of spread (m s<sup>-1</sup>) and intensity (kW m<sup>-1</sup>). Fire spread is modelled as a series of particle ignitions at an optimum rate determined by the interaction of fuels, weather, and slope. Fuel loads (mass per area) of various categories (litter, moss, herbs, shrubs, dead wood) and size classes, and fuel bed depth are determined from field measurements and input to the model; however, fuel heat content, ash fraction, and particle density are generally held constant (Rothermel 1983). Moisture contents (for each fuel category) and windspeeds are also model inputs.

Rate of spread (R) is determined by an energy budget:

$$R = \frac{Q_f}{Q_s} \tag{1}$$

$$\begin{array}{ll} Q_{\rm f} & = \mbox{forward heat flux (kW m^{-2} \mbox{ or } kJ m^{-2} \mbox{ s}^{-1})} \\ Q_{\rm s} & = \mbox{fuel heat sink (kJ m^{-3})}. \end{array}$$

Heat flux  $(Q_f)$  is the forward heat transfer rate to new fuels:

$$Q_f = I_R \xi \left(1 + \phi_w + \phi_s\right) \tag{2}$$

 $\xi$  = propagating flux ratio (dimensionless)  $\phi_w$  = wind coefficient (dimensionless)  $\phi_s$  = slope coefficient (dimensionless)  $I_R$  = reaction intensity (kW m<sup>-2</sup>)

The propagating flux ratio ( $\xi$ ) is the fraction of the reaction intensity ( $I_R$ ) which transfers heat to new fuel particles. Wind and slope coefficients ( $\phi_w$ ,  $\phi_s$ ) modify this heat flux to account for increased radiative and convective heat transfer.

Reaction intensity is the total rate of heat release <u>per unit area in the</u> <u>combustion zone</u>:

$$I_R = \eta_m \eta_s \Gamma h W_n \tag{3}$$

$$\begin{split} \eta_{m} &= \text{moisture damping function (dimensionless)} \\ \eta_{s} &= \text{mineral damping function (dimensionless)} \\ \Gamma &= \text{optimum combustion rate } (s^{-1}) \\ h &= \text{heat of combustion } (kJ kg^{-1}) \\ W_{n} &= \text{net fuel load } (kg m^{-2}) \end{split}$$

Reaction intensity differs from (fire front) intensity (I), which is the forward heat flux per unit length at the fire front. Reaction intensity is the product of the rate of combustion, the fuel heat content (h), and the net fuel load ( $W_n$ ). The optimum combustion rate ( $\Gamma$ ) is the rate at which fuels would burn under ideal conditions. This rate is reduced by the fuel moisture and fuel mineral damping functions. The heat sink  $(Q_s)$  is the heat required to raise a unit volume of fuels within the fuel bed to ignition temperature:

$$Q_s = \rho_b \varepsilon Q_{ig} \tag{4}$$

 $\begin{array}{ll} \rho_{b} & = \mbox{ fuel bulk density (kg m^{-3})} \\ \epsilon & = \mbox{ effective heating number (dimensionless)} \\ Q_{ig} & = \mbox{ heat of pre-ignition (kJ kg^{-1})} \end{array}$ 

The heat of pre-ignition is the energy needed to vaporize moisture from the fuel and then increase fuel temperature to the ignition temperature (~ 300 °C). Only a fraction of the fuel bulk density ( $\rho_b$ ) needs to reach the ignition temperature before ignition occurs: this fraction is the effective heating number ( $\epsilon$ ).

Rate of spread (R: m s<sup>-1</sup>) is found by substitution of  $Q_f$  and  $Q_s$  in equation 1:

$$R = \frac{I_R \xi (1 + \phi_w + \phi_s)}{\rho_b \varepsilon Q_{ig}}$$
(5)

Intensity (I: kW m<sup>-1</sup>) is the product of rate of spread (R) and the heat release of the fire (kJ m<sup>-2</sup>), where heat release is the product of reaction intensity ( $I_R$ ) and flame residence time ( $t_r$ ; Albini 1976):

$$I = I_R R t_r \tag{6}$$

 $I_{R} = reaction intensity (kW m<sup>-2</sup>)$  R = rate of spread (m s<sup>-1</sup>) $t_{r} = flame residence time (s)$ 

The rate of heat release over a unit area is essentially summed over the entire time that the flame exists at any location. This assumes that reaction intensity is constant as fuel

in

particles are consumed by the combustion process.

Substitution and rearrangement produces the following intensity equation:

$$I = \frac{(\eta_m \eta_s \Gamma h W_n)^2 \xi (1 + \phi_w + \phi_s) t_r}{\rho_b \varepsilon Q_{ig}}$$
(7)

Fuel and weather components in the intensity equation were separated to define two new variables. The heat of pre-ignition was also split into two parts, a constant value for dry fuels  $(Q_d)$  and the total value for wet fuels  $(Q_{ig})$ , with the ratio of the dry to wet values shown as  $Q_r$ . The fuel variable  $(F_v : kW m^{-1})$  has the same units as intensity, and thus specifies the collective role of fuels in intensity:

$$F_{v} = \frac{(\eta_{s} \Gamma h W_{n})^{2} \xi t_{r}}{\rho_{b} \varepsilon Q_{d}}$$
(8)

The environment variable ( $E_v$ : dimensionless) includes the remaining effects of fuel moisture content, windspeed, and slope on surface fire intensity:

$$E_{v} = (\eta_{m})^{2} (1 + \phi_{w} + \phi_{s}) Q_{r}$$
(9)

Since slope was held constant E<sub>v</sub> was renamed the weather variable.

### **Crown Fire Initiation Model**

Van Wagner's (1977) model of crown fire initiation involves two steps, first crown fuel ignition must occur and second, the crown fire must burn fuel (and release heat) at a rate sufficient to allow direct crown-to-crown fire spread. When only the first step is achieved the fire is a <u>passive crown fire</u>, because the crown fire passively follows the surface fire at its rate of spread. When both steps are achieved, the fire will become an <u>active crown fire</u>, because the crown component dictates the fire spread rate. Passive crown fires have somewhat elevated intensities (compared to surface fires) due to the addition of crown fuels; active crown fires have intensities 10-100 times greater than surface fires due to the combination of increased fuel consumption and higher rates of spread (Van Wagner 1980).

The first step, crown fuel ignition, occurs when the heat flux from the surface to the crown exceeds the critical intensity  $(I_p: kW m^{-1})$ :

$$I_p = (0.01zQ_c)^{\frac{3}{2}}$$
(10)

z = lower crown base height (m) Q<sub>c</sub> = heat of crown foliage ignition (kJ kg<sup>-1</sup>)

The value 0.01 is an empirical constant of complex dimensions (*cf.* Van Wagner 1977). The heat of foliage ignition ( $Q_c$ ) depends on foliage moisture content, but moisture content generally remains constant throughout the late summer months ranging from 90 - 110 percent (Springer and Van Wagner 1984). This variation in moisture contents represents a seasonal shift due to physiology of the trees and not a weather-caused phenomena. Thus, it was unnecessary to include moisture content variation in this study comparing weather and fuel effects on fires, and the value of  $Q_c$  was held constant at 3060 kJ kg<sup>-1</sup> which corresponds to 100 percent moisture (by dry mass). The minimum critical intensity value was set as 200 kW m<sup>-1</sup>. It is unlikely that

crown ignition could occur at any intensities less than this amount (cf. Fire Danger Group 1992).

The second step in crown fire initiation, active crown spread, occurs when the total crown heat flux is sufficient to ignite nearby crown fuels allowing direct flame transfer between crowns. This occurs only if the rate of crown fuel consumption (mass flow rate) surpasses a critical value. Van Wagner (1977) empirically determined the critical mass flow rate to be 0.05 kg m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. This value equals the product of the rate of spread and crown fuel bulk density. Critical rate of spread ( $R_a$ : m s<sup>-1</sup>) is determined by dividing the mass flow rate by crown bulk density:

$$R_a = \frac{S_o}{\rho_c} \tag{11}$$

The critical rate of spread is then compared to an estimate of crown fire rate of spread ( $R_c$ ) to determine if active crowning is achieved. A procedure to estimate crown fire rate of spread from predicted surface fire rate of spread is given by Rothermel (1991). This empirical relationship predicts crown fire rate of spread for wind-driven fires:

$$R_c = 3.34 R$$
 (12)

 $\begin{array}{ll} R_c & = \text{crown fire rate of spread (m s^{-1})} \\ R & = \text{predicted surface fire rate of spread (m s^{-1})} \end{array}$ 

This empirical equation is as yet untested and consequently serves here only as a guide

to the conditions in which R<sub>a</sub> may be achieved.

The surface fuel variable  $(F_v)$  is then combined with critical intensity and rate of spread to define fuel variables for crown fire initiation. This combination reflects the influence of both surface and crown fuels in crown fire initiation.

The passive crown (fire initiation) fuel variable ( $C_p$ : dimensionless) is:

$$C_p = \frac{F_v}{I_p} \tag{13}$$

 $F_v$  = surface fuel variable (kW m<sup>-1</sup>)  $I_p$  = critical intensity (kW m<sup>-1</sup>)

Definition of the active crown (fire initiation) fuel variable ( $C_a$ ) first involves conversion of the critical crown fire rate of spread to a critical surface fire rate of spread value (via equation 12). This critical spread rate is then multiplied by heat of combustion and the net surface fuel load (as in Byram's 1959 equation) to predict the active crown fire critical surface fire intensity ( $I_a$ : kW m<sup>-1</sup>).

$$I_a = \frac{R_a}{3.34} h W_n \tag{14}$$

 $\begin{array}{ll} R_{a} & = \mbox{critical rate of spread (m s^{-1})} \\ h & = \mbox{low heat of combustion (12700 kJ kg^{-1})} \\ W_{n} & = \mbox{net surface fuel load (kg m^{-2}) from Rothermel's model} \end{array}$ 

Substitution of  $I_a$  for  $I_p$  into equation 13 gives the active crown fuel variable ( $C_a$ ).

$$C_a = \frac{F_v}{I_a} \tag{15}$$

The crown fuel variables and the surface fire weather variable relate directly to passive or active crown fire initiation according to the following formulae:

$$C_{p}E_{v} = \frac{I}{I_{p}}; C_{a}E_{v} = \frac{I}{I_{a}}$$
 (16)

C <sub>p</sub>	= passive crown fuel variable (dimensionless)
$\dot{C_a}$	= active crown fuel variable (dimensionless)
$E_v$	= weather variable (dimensionless)
I	= surface fire intensity (kW $m^{-1}$ )
I <sub>p</sub>	= passive crowning critical fire intensity (kW $m^{-1}$ )
I <sub>a</sub>	= active crowning critical fire intensity (kW $m^{-1}$ )

All fire behaviour predictions, fuel and weather variables are calculated with a FORTRAN program (Appendix 2). Modelling fire behaviour is simpler than gathering data from actual fires, and this approach allowed every stand to be tested in every possible weather condition, whereas any real fire would be a non-repeatable event. The reliability of this approach clearly depends on the ability of the models to capture the fundamental processes of fire behaviour. Given the widespread use of Rothermel's (1972) model in fire danger rating (Bradshaw *et al.* 1984) throughout the United States, it is clear that the general processes of the model are generally well accepted. Van Wagner's (1977) model is also used in fire danger rating in Canada (Fire Danger Group 1992). Reliability of Rothermel's (1972) model predictions for a number of fuel types have been published by Rothermel (1983). A field test of Van Wagner's (1977) model is provided in the original reference.

### **METHODS**

### Study Area

The Kananaskis Valley of S.W. Alberta is situated in the front and main ranges of the southern Canadian Rocky Mountains (115° 0-20' W, 50° 30'-51° N) approximately 100 km west of Calgary, Alberta (Fig. 1). All sampled stands were located in the Kananaskis Valley except for three 22-year-old stands in the Vermilion Pass of Banff and Kootenay National Parks (Table 1). Lower subalpine forest (1200 -1700 m elevation) primarily consists of lodgepole pine (Pinus contorta Loudon var latifolia Engelm.) and Engelmann spruce (Picea engelmannii Parry ex. Engelm.) canopy trees. Aspen (*Populus tremuloides* Michx.) stands occur occasionally in the lower subalpine zone, but were not sampled. The upper subalpine forest (1700 m - c. 2300 m) consists of Engelmann spruce and subalpine fir (A bies lasiocarpa (Hook.) Nutt.) forests (Johnson and Miyanishi 1991). The stands sampled in this study represent approximately 95% of the stand types in the Kananaskis Valley. Most conifer stands in the Kananaskis Valley originate from fire disturbances (Johnson and Larsen 1991) which result in even-aged fire cohorts of lodgepole pine or Engelmann spruce trees (Johnson and Fryer 1989).

The fire cycle of the Kananaskis Valley (90 years) is mainly affected by areas burnt from infrequent stand-replacing crown fires (Johnson and Larsen 1991). The main season for large fires is July and August due to a combination of thunderstorms which produce numerous fire ignitions and dry fuel conditions resulting from many days with high temperature and low relative humidity. FIGURE 1. Map of study area in the Kananaskis Valley, with points indicating locations of sampled stands. Inset: forest reserves and national parks in the southern Canadian Rocky Mountains in southwest Alberta and southeast British Columbia.

.

KANANASKIS VALLEY, ALBERTA

...



# **TABLE 1.**Sampled forest stands listing location, elevation, age (time-since-fire),aspect, density, basal area, slope, overstorey tree percentage composition

(by tree density),	and stand	composition	classes.
--------------------	-----------	-------------	----------

No.	Location	Elev.	Age	Asp.	Dens.	B.A.	Slope	Pine	Spr.	Fir	Comp
		m	у	deg	#/ha	m²/ha	deg	%	%	%	Class <sup>1</sup>
. <u> </u>											
1	Barrier 1	1675	101	314	1230	31.2	22	60	17	23	2
2	Barrier 2	1450	125	356	2530	47.4	9	97	3	0	1
3	Porcupine	1425	81	232	2170	48.7	16	98	2	õ	1
4	Lower Wedge	1575	54	0	7230	40.3	0	100	õ	ŏ	1
5	Lower Fortress 1	1575	70	Õ	3770	55.1	5	100	Õ	õ	ĩ
6	Lower Fortress 2	1600	70	100	3330	47.1	8	97	3	0	1
7	Middle Fortress 1	1650	109	60	1070	92.5	15	16	84	õ	3
8	Middle Fortress 2	1750	258	120	1900	74.6	25	45	43	12	2
9	Nakiska Sign	1475	54	300	2100	33.5	21	100	0	0	1
10	Skogan Trail	1450	54	206	3130	43.6	7	100	0	Ó	1
11	Evan Thomas 1	1575	99	0	1730	74.3	5	100	0	0	1
12	Ribbon Creek 1	1625	202	320	1270	55.8	13	9	41	50	3
13	Boundary Trail	1550	109	264	730	22.6	12	67	33	0	2
14	Galatea Creek 1	1775	216	360	730	43.8	21	0	53	47	3
15	Upper Wedge	2250	211	57	1670	60.7	22	0	68	32	3
16	Ranger Station	1500	99	0	1970	55.5	6	98	0	0	1
17	Middle Nakiska	1925	224	96	1330	48.9	27	20	30	50	3
18	Rocky Creek	1725	120	68	2000	47.8	27	20	60	20	3
19	Boulton Creek 1	1700	57	0	1770	17.8	2	87	13	0	1
20	Upper Opal Creek	2025	112	45	1700	25.1	23	94	6	0	1
21	Lower Opal Creek	1825	70	246	1470	33.1	5	100	0	0	1
22	Elbow Trailhead	2000	132	212	1800	72.6	16	0	45	55	3
23	L. Lake Peninsula	1700	86	0	3900	58.6	10	100	0	0	1
24	Spillway	1650	100	0	870	46.2	1	42	59	0	2
25	K. River Outflow	1650	100	200	7000	46.5	8	100	0	0	1
26	Sm. Dor. Highw. 1	1825	86	216	1400	45.3	15	74	26	0	2
27	Field Station	1425	125	320	1570	34.3	5	100	0	0	1
28	Sm. Dor. Highw. 2	1825	86	234	600	30.1	16	56	39	6	2
29	Boulton Creek 2	1700	57	0	1870	40.0	3	100	0	0	1
30	Hydroline Trail	1750	132	0	1900	42.0	3	4	63	33	3
31	Sawmill	2000	150	0	1870	66.9	4	14	89	0	3

# **TABLE 1.**Continued.

.

.

•

No.	Location	Elev. m	Age y	Asp. deg	Dens. #/ha	B.A. m²/ha	Slope deg	Pine %	Spr. %	Fir %	Comp Class
20	W/	1.606	000	200	000		10				-
32	wasootch 1	1575	220	320	900	57.2	13	4	81	15	3
33	Wasootch 2	1375	125	290	1930	44.6	8	100	0	0	1
34	Chester	2400	212	216	1570	95.7	9	5	37	59	3
35	Indefatiguable 1	2175	23	250	2270	8.4	26	100	0	0	1
36	Indefatiguable 2	2175	23	192	230	3.6	29	0	100	0	3
37	Evan Thomas 2	2000	120	140	500	18.8	36	53	27	20	2
38	King Creek	1875	92	230	1800	37.0	19	8	82	10	3
39	Evan Thomas 3	1600	120	290	1070	31.0	8	85	11	0	1
40	Upper Lake	1750	124	70	2270	49.8	33	2	66	32	3
41	Vermilion Pass 1	1600	22	180	0 *	2.3	34	100	0	0	1
42	Vermilion Pass 2	1600	22	105	0	8.6	18	100	0	0	1
43	Vermilion Pass 3	1600	22	0	1870	38.9	6	100	0	0	1
44	Point Campground	1725	132	0	2930	37.6	7	86	14	0	1
45	Jewel Pass	1425	81	100	1500	54.2	7	89	11	0	1
46	Galatea Creek 2	1900	216	132	630	59.9	12	0	59	41	3
47	Ribbon Creek 2	1650	202	200	1530	75.5	6	68	32	0	2

<sup>1</sup> Stand Composition Classes		Species Composition	
1.	Pine	>85% pine by density	
2.	Pine-spruce mix	15-85% pine, 15-85% spruce	
3.	Spruce (fir)	>85% spruce or spruce/fir	
<u> </u>			

\* stands with all trees under 1.5 m tall were classed as having no canopy density

47 subalpine forest stands were chosen for sampling based on a stand origin map of the Kananaskis valley. This method was employed to attain a maximum stratification of samples among the ages and tree species compositions among the valley stands. Stand ages were confirmed by examining annual ring cores of overstorey trees. A stand was defined as an area of contiguous forest at least 1.5 ha area, with generally uniform species composition and a minimum of 20 m from any clearing, road, or trail in any direction. Stand characteristics: elevation, age, aspect, density, basal area, slope, overstorey tree percentages, and stand types are listed in Table 1. Stand ages (*i.e.* time since last fire) ranged from 22 to 258 years. Stand types (pine, spruce, and mixed species) were classified according to the percentage of overstorey species (Table 1).

### **Fuel Inventory and Calculations**

Surface fuel loads were measured by methods of McRae *et al.* (1979) and Brown (1974, 1983) along a 90 m transect in the shape of an equilateral triangle (30 m sides). Downed wood fuels in five diameter classes (0-0.25 cm, 0.26-1.0 cm, 1.1-3.0 cm, 3.1-5.0 cm, and 5.1-7.0 cm) were measured using the line intersect technique and calculated into fuel loads according to Van Wagner (1968):

$$W = \frac{\rho \pi^2 \Sigma d^2}{8L} \tag{17}$$

W	=	fuel load	kg m <sup>-2</sup>
ρ	=	mass density	kg m <sup>-3</sup>
d	=	diameter	m
L	=	transect length	m

The equation required wood mass density and mean diameters for each size class and species of wood. Wood samples were collected throughout Kananaskis and measured for diameter and mass density (*cf.* ASTM 1988). Diameters were squared, means obtained, and then square roots were taken to transform these means back to linear values. This determined the quadratic mean diameter required in the calculation of wood volume in the equation. Mean diameters and mass densities for the fuel load . calculations are given in Table 2.

Shrub, herb, litter and moss fuels were measured in evenly spaced quadrats along the 90-m transect. Shrub basal diameters were measured in nine (1 m<sup>2</sup>) quadrats at 10-m intervals. Each shrub species was recorded individually, and the number of dead stems per shrub plant was estimated visually. Litter and moss depth, and herbaceous plant cover, height, and percent dead were measured in 27 (0.06 m<sup>2</sup>) quadrats at 3-m intervals along the transect (corners excluded). "Herbaceous" fuels were classified as grass, broadleaf herbs, prostrate shrubs (*e.g. Arctostapholous uvaursi*) and lichens. Fuel load estimates for the above fuel components were calculated from regression equations (Table 3) estimated from fuel samples collected in the Kananaskis Valley. Above-ground masses for shrub species (live stem, dead stem, and foliage) were estimated from basal stem diameter (Table 3a) and were split into live and dead shrub categories based on the percent dead estimate. Live and dead herbaceous fuel loads were predicted from cover, height, and percent dead (Table 3b). Litter and moss fuel loads were predicted from depth (Table 3c).

The estimated surface fuel components were then divided into the following

Size <sup>1</sup>	Mean Line Diam Dist			Mass Densities (kg m <sup>-3</sup> )				
	(cm)	m) (m)		Spruce	Fir	Aspen	Shrub	Other
1.	0.28	10	420	380	450	480	450	N.A.
2	0.71	20	490	450	460	470	500	N.A.
3	1.73	20	540	540	510	350	430	N.A.
4	3.74	30	460	490	390	420	470	N.A.
5	5.92	30	450	510	410	420	470	N.A.
6S	N.A.	30	450	460	360	430	430	426
6R	N.A.	30	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	310

TABLE 2.	Downed wood mass density, quadratic mean diameters, and sample line
	length for downed wood measurements in Kananaskis, Alberta.

3

Pine	=	Pinus contorta
Spruce	==	Picea engelmannii
Fir	=	A bies lasiocarpa
Aspen	=	Populus tremuloides
Shrub	-	mean of Alnus tenuifolia, Shepherdia canadensis, Rosa
		spp., Salix spp., and Potentilla fruticosa L.
Other	==	mean of pine, spruce, fir, aspen.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 1 = 0.0.49 cm, 2 = 0.5.0.99 cm, 3 = 1.0.2.9 cm, 4 = 3.0.4.9 cm, 5 = 5.0.6.9 cm, 6S = sound wood 7+ cm, 6R = rotten wood 7+ cm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Length on each 30-m side of a 90-m triangular transect in which each size class of wood was counted.

SPECIES	<sup>1</sup> COMP	²log(a)	b	MSE	N	r <sup>2</sup>	<sup>3</sup> MAX
Salix spp.	FOL.	-0.266	1.801	.139	37	0.73	3
~~	DBR.	0.627	1.101	.147	37	0.84	
	LST.	1.326	2.600	.142	37	0.50	
	DST.	1.300	2.993	.111	51	0.93	
Populus	FOL.	0.042	0.938	.051	38	0.63	3
tremuloides	DBR.	1.412	1.917	.180	38	0.67	
	LST.	0.445	0.981	.104	38	0.48	
	DST.	1.279	2.098	.058	38	0.86	
Shepherdia	FOL.	-0.160	1.916	.067	23	0.88	2
canadensis	DBR.	0.545	1.061	.178	23	0.46	
	LST.	1.337	3.118	.122	23	0.92	
	DST.	1.393	2.496	.123	29	0.87	
<i>Rosa</i> spp.	FOL.	-0.474	0.714	.061	29	0.33	1
**	DBR.	0.439	0.542	.067	29	0.20	
	LST.	0.970	1.714	.087	29	0.66	
	DST.	1.306	2.052	.181	22	0.62	
Alnus	FOL.	0.378	1.260	.133	19	0.42	3
tenuifolia	DBR.	0.114	0.480	.029	19	0.32	
5	LST.	1.492	2.567	.054	19	0.88	
	DST.	1.178	2.567	.076	11	0.89	
Potentilla	FOL.	-0.445	1.081	.188	19	0.28	1
fruticosa	DBR.	0.628	0.892	.060	19	0.46	
0	LST.	1.288	2.345	.208	19	0.63	
	DST.	1.153	1.346	.116	22	0.49	
<i>Betula</i> spp.	FOL.	0.309	1.883	.275	27	0.33	2
**	DBR.	0.522	1.124	.070	27	0.41	
	LST.	1.596	2.387	.066	27	0.77	
	DST.	1.441	2.076	.096	21	0.52	

•

.

**TABLE 3a)**Regression equations for shrubs and seedlings in the Kananaskis Valley,Alberta estimating mass of foliage and stems from basal stem diameter.

SPECIES	COMP	log(a)	b	MSE	N	r <sup>2</sup>	MAX
Amelanchier alnifolia	FOL. DBR. LST.	0.100 0.383 1.351	1.747 0.635 2.938	.272 .079 .159	31 31 31	0.53 0.34 0.85	3
Vibernum edule	FOL. DBR. LST.	-0.117 0.231 1.463	1.868 0.363 3.191	.136 .013 .270	16 16 16	0.61 0.38 0.70	1
Pinus contorta	FOL. LST.	0.950 1.307	2.171 1.872	.156 .100	26 26	0.57 0.61	1.5
Picea engelmannii	FOL. DBR. LST.	1.327 0.093 1.224	1.924 0.244 2.194	.059 .036 .083	25 25 25	0.89 0.17 0.88	3
A bies lasiocarpa	FOL. LST.	1.446 1.374	2.085 2.523	.163 .143	8 8	0.52 0.64	3
Juniperus communis	FOL. LST.	1.347 1.243	0.954 1.440	.046 .063	25 25	0.63 0.74	2

TABLE 3a) Shrub component equations continued.

FOL = foliage, DBR. = dead branches on live plants, LST. = live stem, DST. = mass of dead plants.

<sup>2</sup> For shrub equations log(mass) = log(a) + b log(diam), where diameter was in cm and mass was in g. Dead branch mass was transformed as log(mass+1). If there was no dead stem equation for a species, the live stem value was used.

3

1

MAX = maximum stem diameter (cm) permitted for each equation.

TABLE 3b) Regression equations for herbaceous plants and prostrate shrubs in the Kananaskis Valley, Alberta estimating fuel load (kg m<sup>-2</sup>) from height (cm), cover (%), and percent dead.

Multiple Regression Coefficients <sup>2</sup>								
TYPE <sup>1</sup>	a	b <sub>1</sub>	b <sub>2</sub>	b <sub>3</sub>	b <sub>4</sub>	MSE	Ν	r <sup>2</sup>
L. SHRUB	015	.00119	.0101	.000473	•	.00432	52	0.81
D. SHRUB	00232	.000212	•		.000518	.00004	52	0.59
L. BROAD	.00209	.000783	.000507		•	.00030	92	0.61
L. GRASS	.00685	000022	.000242	.000033	000089	.00006	108	0.74
D. GRASS	.0128	.00189	.000699	000039	.000178	.00018	108	0.87
L. LICH	.0180	00362	0110	.00319	•	.00065	18	0.97

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> L. = live, D. = dead. SHRUB = prostrate shrubs. BROAD = broadleaf herbs. GRASS = grasses and sedges. LICH = lichens.

<sup>2</sup> Herbaceous plant equations are of the form: Load =  $a + b_1(\% \text{cover}) + b_2(\text{height}(\text{cm})) + b_3(\text{cov*ht}) + b_4(\% \text{dead})$ . Note: The maximum % dead value permitted for prostrate shrubs was 20.

TYPE <sup>1</sup>	EQUATION <sup>2</sup>	MSE	N	r <sup>2</sup>
NEEDLE	W=0.733+0.447 (D)	0.451	45	0.68
LEAF	log(W)=-0.294+0.620 [log(D)]	0.044	41	0.30
CONE	W=1.208+1.040 (D)	2.990	5	0.88
MOSS	log(W)=-0.0318+0.276 [log(D)]	0.032	42	0.20

**TABLE 3c)** Regression equations for litter and moss in the Kananaskis Valley, Alberta estimating fuel load (kg  $m^{-2}$ ) from depth in cm.

<sup>1</sup> NEEDLE = conifer needle litter

LEAF = deciduous leaf litter

CONE = cone scale litter

MOSS = live moss plants

D = depth to fermentation layer or to dead moss tissues (cm).

classes: litter, moss/lichen, live herbs, live shrubs, 1-hour time-lag fuels (0.00-0.63 cm: dead wood, dead shrub wood, dead herbs), 10-hour (0.64-2.54 cm) and 100-hour (2.55-7.62 cm) fuels (dead wood and dead shrub wood). Wood fuel loads were divided among the three time-lag size classes based on conversion factors determined from wood diameters collected in Kananaskis (Table 4a). Dead shrub wood was also divided into the three time-lag size classes based on an expected distribution of stem sizes (Table 4b) for stems of a certain basal diameter (*cf.* Brown *et al.* 1982). Each fuel class was then assigned a characteristic surface area to volume ratio (*cf.* Brown and Bevins 1986, Sylvester and Wein 1981), and a fuel depth based on field estimates (Table 5).

<u>Crown fuels</u> were measured in three 100 m<sup>2</sup> quadrats per stand by measuring each tree's diameter at breast height (DBH). Crown foliage biomass was predicted from DBH using empirical equations from various literature sources (Table 6). Crown top and base heights were measured on a 2-m wide strip transect until three dominant and three subdominant trees per species were measured. Mean crown heights (top and base) were determined by weighting tree heights of dominant and subdominant trees by population densities in the three quadrats. Fuel loads were then divided by crown depth to get crown bulk density.

### Weather Data Source and Calculations

Daily weather data (temperature, precipitation, windspeed, and relative humidity) for 1954-1988 were obtained from the Atmospheric Environment Service,
**TABLE 4.** Conversion percentages to calculate fuel loads in time-lag fuel classes

 from a) shrub basal stem diameter classes and b) dead wood in

 measured size classes.

a)	Shrub Class (cm)	% in 1-h Class	% in 10-h Class	% In 100-h Class
	0.0 - 0.5	100	0	0
	0.5 - 1.0	80	20	0
	1.0 - 1.5	70	30	0
	1.5 - 2.0	60	40	0
	2.0 - 3.0	50	40	10
	3.0 - 5.0	25	25	50
b)	Downed Wood Diam. Class (cm)	% in 1-h Class	% In 10-h Class	% In 100-h Class
	0.0 - 0.5	100	0	0
	0.5 - 1.0	48	52	0
	1.0 - 3.0	0	92	8
	3.0 - 5.0	0	0	100
<b></b>	5.0 - 7.0	0	0	100

1 1-hour class = 0.00 - 0.63 cm, 10-hour class = 0.64 - 2.54 cm,

100-hour class = 2.55 - 7.62 cm.

Fuel Component	Depth (cm)	SA/VOL (cm <sup>-1</sup> )	Source <sup>1</sup> (for SA/VOL)
Litter	5	50	1
1-h Wood	30	13	3
10-h Wood	30	3	1
100-h Wood	30	1	1
Moss	5	100	1,2
Herbs	30	50	1
Shrub Foliage	100	75	2
Shrub Stem	100	15	2

# **TABLE 5.**Standardized values of surface area to volume ratio (cm<sup>-1</sup>) and fuel layerdepth for each surface fuel category.

<sup>1</sup> Sources 1. Brown and Bevins (1986)

2. Sylvester and Wein (1981)

3. This study, based on calculations in Brown (1970)

Equation <sup>1</sup>	r <sup>2</sup>	MSE	N	Range <sup>2</sup>	Source <sup>3</sup>
Pinus contorta					
T=0.152 ( $h^2$ ) F=0.38 (T) E=0.21 (T)	0.96	• 0.045	12	d < 5 $h \leq 3.05$	1
$F=0.0525 (d^{1.6057})$	0.83	432.6	27	h > 3.05 $d \ge 5$	2
Picea engelmannii					
T=0.4535 ( $e^{-0.878+2.57*\ln(h)}$ ) F=0.40 (T) F=0.33 (T)	0.94	1.499	12	d < 5 $h \le 3.05$ h > 3.05	1
$F=0.6373 (d^{1.1457})$	0.69	216.1	23	$d \ge 5$	2
A bies lasiocarpa					
T=0.4535 ( $e^{-0.599+2.30*\ln(h)}$ ) F=0.40 (T) E=0.33 (T)	0.90	0.276	13	d < 5 $h \le 3.05$ h > 3.05	1
N=3.66-1.02(d)+.091( $d^2$ )0011( $d^3$ ) F=0.5 (N)	0.79	35.28	60	$d \ge 5$	3

## **TABLE 6.**Regression equations predicting foliage mass (kg) from diameter at<br/>breast height (cm) and/or tree height (m) for conifer trees.

T = total tree mass (kg), F = needle mass (kg), N = foliage + small twig mass, d= diameter at breast height (cm), h = tree height (m). For *A bies lasiocarpa* it was assumed that  $F = 0.5 \times N$ .

<sup>2</sup> Tree sizes applicable for equations.

1

<sup>3</sup> 1. Brown (1978); 2. Johnson, Woodard, and Titus (1990); 3. Singh (1982).

Environment Canada, Banff, Alberta  $(115^{\circ} 30' \text{ W}, 51^{\circ} 10' \text{ N})$ . This station's weather represented typical fire-weather for the southern Canadian Rockies (Johnson and Wowchuk 1993). Wind speed at 10-m was adjusted to mid-flame height using the adjustment factor of 0.37. This value was equivalent to the standard value of 0.40 at 6.1-m height (Bradshaw *et al.* 1984) for an assumed logarithmic wind profile.

Daily moisture contents for surface fuel components (litter, dead timelag class fuels, herbs, shrubs, and moss/lichens) were calculated for the fire seasons of 1954-1988 using a FORTRAN program (Appendix 3). Herb, shrub, and dead-wood moisture contents were predicted from National Fire Danger Rating System equations for Climate Class 3 (Bradshaw *et al.* 1984). Litter moisture was predicted from the Fine Fuel Moisture Code of the Fire Weather Index System (Van Wagner 1987). Moss/lichen moisture was predicted from equations by Pech (1989).

## Surface Fire Intensity Analysis

Surface fire intensity predictions from Rothermel's (1972) model were made using fuel loads from 47 forest stands and weather representing each day in July and August from 1954-1988. Remember that intensity (kW m<sup>-1</sup>) is the product of the fuel variable (kW m<sup>-1</sup>) and the weather variable (dimensionless). Variation in intensity predictions was partitioned between the fuel and weather variables using multiple regression for the log transformed model:

$$\log(I) = b_0 + b_1 \log(F_v) + b_2 \log(E_v)$$
(18)

 $\begin{array}{ll} I & = \text{ intensity} \\ b & = \text{ partial regression coefficients} \\ F_v & = \text{ fuel variable} \\ E_v & = \text{ weather variable} \end{array}$ 

In this analysis, regression was used to partition the sums of squares of intensity between the two variables rather than to predict an empirical relationship, since by definition this equation will have a perfect fit with each coefficient equal to 1. The relative roles of fuel and weather variables were then determined from the <u>standardized</u> partial regression coefficients which determine how strongly each variable (fuel variable or weather variable) influences the dependent variable intensity). Thus, this test was used as a kind of a sensitivity analysis with actual fuel and weather data, to see which of those two classes more strongly affected the fire intensity predictions.

## **Crown Fire Initiation Analyses**

The relative importance of the crown fuel and weather variables in crown fire initiation were determined using predictions from the 47 sampled stands and 1968 summer weather. The year 1968 was chosen because it had a wide range of weather variable values, especially in the upper end of the range, due to a blocking high pressure system in July. These high values were needed to ensure that the logistic model would have a number of points for the upper asymptote (*i.e.* predicted crown fires). However, any other year with a high range of weather values would have given similar results in this analysis.

Fire type (crown vs surface fire) was related to the crown fuel variables (Cp:

28

passive crown fuel variable, and  $C_a$ : active crown fuel variable) and weather variable ( $E_v$ ) using multiple logistic regression:

$$Type = \frac{\exp(b_0 + b_1(C_x) + b_2(E_y))}{1 + \exp(b_0 + b_1(C_x) + b_2(E_y))}$$
(19)

Type	=	Crown Fire Type: a binary variable
C <sub>x</sub>	=	Passive or Active Crown Fuel Variable
E <sub>v</sub>	=	Weather Variable

The logistic regression curve has asymptotes at zero and one, in which zero corresponds to fires which do not exceed the crowning criteria and one corresponds to crowning fires. The shape of the curve between the asymptotes is sigmoidal. The initiation of passive crown fires from surface fires was related to  $C_p$  and  $E_v$ . Initiation of active crown fires was examined in relation to  $C_a$  and  $E_v$  in two ways. Active crown fire initiation was examined first by excluding all surface fire predictions from the data and second, the surface fire predictions were included. The first test examined only passive to active crown fire transition, whereas the second test examined the entire surface to passive to active crown fire transition as if it were a single transition. The relative importance of crown fuel and weather variables was determined from the standardized partial logistic regression coefficients which indicated the magnitude of importance of the two variables in each analysis. Thus, this test again was a sensitivity-type analysis to show the importance of actual fuel and weather variation among crown fire initiation variation.

## Graphical crown fire initiation model

A graphical representation of equation 16 was developed to show the ranges of weather at which the different types of fire behaviour could be expected for a set of normal forest stand crown fuel conditions (normal here meant all stands between the  $10^{\text{th}}$  and  $90^{\text{th}}$  percentiles of the two crown fuel variables). The fire behaviour classes determined were: no fires, all surface fires, all crown fires, and the transition range from surface to crown (*i.e.* some stands achieve crowning status while others remain as surface fires due to differences in fuels/crown structure). A separate graph was prepared for each of passive and active crowning. The purpose of this exercise was to demonstrate how the variability in the weather variable would affect crowning behaviour given the range of fuel conditions among stands. This graph will explain the results of the previous analysis by showing which ranges of the overall behaviour are controlled by weather versus fuel variables in influencing fire behaviour will be demonstrated.

#### Weather Variable Analyses

As noted earlier in the model sections, the weather variable represents the effect of weather conditions on the potential magnitude of fire intensity for all forest stands of a forest region. The tests employed in this section examined how daily variation in the weather variable among fire seasons would affect the variation in predicted fire behaviour. The weather variable  $(E_v)$  was predicted for all stands for each day of July and August, 1954-1988, and daily mean weather variable values (among stands) were determined. Frequency distributions of the weather variable were compared between year classes representing annual area burned in the southern Canadian Rockies. Largearea-burned years were years in which much greater than 30 ha of forest was burned in the combined area of Kootenay National Park, Yoho National Park, Banff National Park, and the Bow Crow Forest Reserve, Alberta. From 1954-1988, large areas burned during 10 years, while small areas (<< 30 ha) burned in 25 years (Johnson and Wowchuk 1993).

The first analysis was a comparison of weather variable frequency distributions between large and small-area-burned years, to determine if the difference between the two classes was related to weather variation as expressed in the fire models. The null hypothesis was that large-area-burned years had the same weather variable frequencies as small-area-burned years. Accepting this hypothesis would imply either that all years have an equal frequency of suitable conditions for large fires to develop, or that the fire-year classes differ but cannot be explained by the weather variable since the weather mechanism which relates to annual area burned is unrelated to the weather variable. The alternative hypothesis was that the weather variable distribution was shifted in large-area-burned years, such that those years were more likely to sustain large rather than small area fires. The frequency distributions were negative exponentials when the continuous weather variable was classed into discrete ranges. The frequency distributions of the weather variable were compared using a heterogeneity of slopes t-test (Zar 1984).

## Intensity comparison between large and small fire years

The importance of large and small fire years on fire behaviour was also tested directly using the following ANOVA model:

$$\log(I) = b_0 + b_1 group + b_2 year(group)$$
(20)

Ι	= intensity predictions
group	= large or small-area-burned years
year(group)	= year nested within groups

Year nested within groups accounted for intensity variation among years. The significance of the group factor determined whether large and small-area-burned years differed in their mean predicted intensities.

The purpose of this test was to show the importance of weather variation among years on fire intensity predictions directly. Although the previous test examined the weather variable frequencies, there was still a possibility that a significantly different frequency distribution would not lead to significantly higher intensity predictions, because most values in the negative exponential weather frequency would still result in mainly low intensity predictions. Thus, the null hypothesis was that large-area-burned years and small-area-burned years had the same mean intensity predictions.

## **Fuel Variable Analyses**

These analyses tested whether the potential for high intensity or crown fires, in

lower subalpine conifer forests, was a function of fuel variation associated with either stand age or stand species composition (pine versus spruce stands). Remember from the model sections, that the surface and crown fuel variables were defined such that they related directly to surface fire intensity predictions from Rothermel's (1972) model or to crown fire initiation from the combination of Rothermel's (1972) and Van Wagner's (1977) models. These variables were independent of the weather and thus they provided the best method to examine the independent role of factors which affect fuel variation in terms of the potential for affecting fire behaviour variation among sampled forest stands.

## Fuel variables and stand age

Regression was used to determine whether any or all of the three fuel variables increased with stand age, as would be predicted based on the belief that fire behaviour increases in older stands due to fuel build-up or crown structural changes (see Introduction). Scatter plots of each variable versus age were first examined to see whether a linear model would be appropriate. Other potential models could have been substituted (*e.g.* quadratic) if the plots indicated a non-linear relationship. The model chosen was the log-log transformed model, since this stabilized the fuel variable variances across the range of ages and better met the linearity assumption of regression.

The role of site features in influencing the fuel variables were also considered. These features were elevation (m), aspect ( $^{\circ}$ : cosine transformed to make it a noncircular variable) and slope ( $^{\circ}$ ). Thus a multiple regression model was used to analyze each fuel variable:

$$VAR = b_0 + b_1(AGE) + b_2(ELEV) + b_3(ASP) + b_4(SLOPE)$$
(21)

The fuel variables were tested in two sets: a) all stands ; and b) all stands over 25 years of age. The reason for this split was that crown development was not observed in the stands less than 25 years of age, which may affect the surface fuel variable and should certainly affect the crown fuel variables. If the younger stands significantly alter the relationship between age and the fuel variables it may imply that as stands < 25 years of age become older, the fuel conditions may increase from a relatively lower intensity or crown fire potential state to a higher intensity/crowning potential state, as is also believed by some fire ecologists.

## Fuel variables and stand types

The role of stand composition on the fuel variables was examined using one way analysis of variance. The stand composition classes were pine, spruce (fir), and pine/spruce mix as defined in Table 1. As in the regression analysis above, logtransformed values were used for all variables. For each analysis, the null hypothesis being tested was that the mean fuel variable value (and thus the potential fire behaviour independent of weather conditions) was no different between the pine and spruce classes. Note that stands less than 25 years of age were excluded from this analysis based on the disjunctions determined in the data set between the stands greater than and less than 25 years in the previous analysis. Thus, only stands with a developed crown were compared in these tests. Multiple comparison (Tukey) tests were performed when required. Fuel variable means with 95 % confidence limits for each significantly different compositional class were reported after each test.

#### RESULTS

## Surface Fire Intensity Analysis

The relative role of weather was found to be much greater than the role of fuels in determining surface fire intensity (predicted from Rothermel's (1972) model). As expected, the logarithmic regression model found partial slopes of  $\log(F_v)$ ,  $\log(E_v)$ , and also found R<sup>2</sup> equal to 1 (Table 7). The weather variable explained 83 percent of the regression sum of squares (SS<sub>log(Ev)</sub>/SS<sub>reg</sub>), and had a standardized partial regression coefficient of 0.912. The fuel variable explained 15 percent of the model sum of squares and the standardized coefficient was 0.388. Due to rounding errors in the analysis, these values do not add up to 100%. A small residual sum-of-squares indicates a possible slight (non-significant) interaction between the two variables.

### **Crown Fire Initiation Analyses**

Predicted crown fire initiation (determined from the models) was also mainly influenced by weather rather than fuels. All three multiple logistic regression models were significant at p < 0.001 (Table 8). In the passive crown fire initiation test, standardized regression coefficients were -1.80 for the weather variable and -0.38 for the passive crown fuel variable (Table 8a). In the first active crown fire initiation **TABLE 7.** Multiple regression analysis of predicted surface fire intensity for 35

 years of summer weather data and 47 forest stands in Kananaskis,

 Alberta, comparing the roles of the surface fuel and weather variables in intensity.

Dep. Var.: L	og(I)	N=73984	$R^2 = 1.00$	$SE_{E} = 0.0151$	
Variable	Coeff.	S.E.	STD. COEFF.	t	Р
Constant	0.001	0.001	0.0000	1.213	> 0.2
Log(E <sub>v</sub> )	1.000	0.326E-04	0.9121	31000	< 0.001
Log(F <sub>v</sub> )	1.000	0.766E-04	0.3883	31000	< 0.001

## ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE TABLE

SOURCE	SS	DF	MS	F	Р
Regression	257276.5	2	128638.2	0.565E+09	0.000
$Log(E_v)$	213897.8	1	213897.8	0.940E+09	0.000
Log(F <sub>v</sub> )	38768.6	1	38768.6	0.170E+09	0.000
Residual	16.9	73981	0.0002		

(for only those stands which achieved passive crowning; Table 8b) standardized regression coefficients were similar in magnitude (-4.51 for the active crown fuel variable and -2.95 for the weather variable). When active crowning was contrasted with all surface/passive fires, the standardized coefficients differed greatly in magnitude (-1.85 for the weather variable and -0.39 for the fuel variable; Table 8c). The similarity in the regression coefficients between the passive crown fire analysis and the second active crown fire analysis indicated that passive crown initiation was the main threshold to be surpassed to attain an active crown fire. That is, once this threshold was surpassed most stands had surpassed the active crown fire threshold.

## Graphical crown fire initiation model

Figure 2a demonstrates the range of weather at which crown fires will ignite in normal stands in the Kananaskis Valley. Not shown on the graph, is the point where the weather variable equals 0, and correspondingly no fires are possible. At this point, weather completely dominates the possible range of fire behaviour, since none is allowed. This single point actually represents a very common set of weather conditions, as will be seen in the next section. The weather range from > 0 to approximately  $E_v = 1$ , is the surface fire range. Within this range all fires will remain as surface fires; this again demonstrates a range in which weather dominates the fire behaviour by being too moist/calm for crown fires to develop. The next range, from 1 <  $E_v < 10$ , there will be a difference in crowning status among stands due to fuel/crown structural differences; within this transitional range, fuel differences

TABLE 8. Multiple logistic regression results for crown fire initiation versus crown fuel and weather variables for 47 stands and weather data from 1968 for
a) passive crown fires versus surface fires, b) active crown fires versus passive crown fires only, and c) active crown fires versus surface or passive crown fires.

a) Passive Init.	Coef.	n = 2914 S.E.	-2LL $\chi^2 = 1684$ Std. Coef.	p<0.0001 Wald χ²	р	
Intercept	2.7027	0.0904		893.87	0.0001	
Weather	-0.5249	0.0055	-1.7988	611.20	0.0001	
b) Active Init.	Coef.	n = 992 S.E.	-2LL $\chi^2 = 842$ Std. Coef.	p=0.0001 Wald χ²	р	
Intercept ACFV Weather	7.0158 -10.8505 - 0.6654	0.6806 1.0447 0.0766	-4.5109 -2.9532	106.26 107.87 75.50	0.0001 0.0001 0.0001	
c) Active Init.	Coef.	n = 2914 S.E.	-2LL $\chi^2 = 1715$ Std. Coef.	p<0.0001 Wald χ²	р	
Intercept	4.2055	0.1587	-0.3859	701.85	0.0001	
Weather	-0.5385	0.0219	-1.8453	606.15	0.0001	
-2LL Active Ir Passive I PCFV ACFV =	= nit. = nit. = = Active	Negative two log likelihood Active crown fire ignition Passive crown fire ignition Passive crown fuel variable crown fuel variable				
Weather	=	Weather Varial	ble			

FIGURE 2. Crown fire initiation chart which demonstrates the weather and crown fuel variables at which conifer forest stands will achieve passive or active crown fire initiation according to equation 16 of the crown fire model section. Both figures show the range for stands in which crown fuel variables range between the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles of all crown fuel values. A) Passive crown fuel variable (C<sub>p</sub>); B) Active crown fuel variable (C<sub>a</sub>).



have their relatively greatest influence on fire behaviour. However, as the weather reaches progressively higher values within the transition range, more and more stands achieve crowning status, meaning that the weather is still playing an important role within this range. Once  $E_v > 10$ , weather again is the only influential factor on fire behaviour since all stands are crowning, and thus there are no differences among stand fuel conditions. Crowning is dominated by weather for all conditions except the transition range, in which case both fuels and weather play an important role. Once extreme weather conditions ( $E_v > 10$ ) are achieved fuels play no further role in the determination of crown initiation since all stands have achieved the threshold intensities required for crown initiation.

Figure 2b shows the corresponding lines for active crown fires. Since the passive crown fire threshold must be achieved prior to the active crown fire threshold, and since the minimum and maximum values of the passive crown variable exceed the minimum and maximum for the active crown variable, the ranges described above will also pertain to active crown fires.

## Weather Variable Analyses

The tests employed in this section examined how daily variation in the weather variable among fire seasons would affect the variation in predicted surface fire intensity and crown fire initiation. The first analysis was a comparison of weather variable frequency distributions between large and small-area-burned years. The null hypothesis was that large-area-burned years had the same weather variable frequencies as small-area-burned years. The percent frequency distribution of the daily values of the weather variable for July and August 1954-1988, was shown to decline exponentially (% Freq. =  $0.433 \ (E_v)^{-0.566}$ , r<sup>2</sup>=0.98, df=10, p<0.01). This negative exponential relationship explains that the daily weather variation is slanted towards mostly low values (days in which fires are unlikely to burn intensely) and that very few days reach extreme conditions which can result in high intensity fires.

Large and small-area-burned years had significantly different weather variable distributions (Figure 3, df=20, t=2.99, p<0.05). Note from the figure that the difference between the frequency of days at the low end of the weather distribution, for the two year classes, was slight, while the difference between the two classes in the frequency of extreme weather values was great (>3 times higher for weather variable values of 10 or more, which includes all weather which will cause crowning in normal stands in the study area). The null hypothesis stated above was rejected. Thus, the weather variable distribution was shifted in large-area-burned years, such that some days in those years were much more likely to sustain high intensity fires than days in small-area-burned years. It cannot be directly shown that high intensity fires will be larger fires, but this seems to be a plausible connection, since higher intensity fires will have greater rates of spread, and therefore cover greater area within a unit time span. Large-area-burned years exist most likely because the weather is much more extreme than normal for only a few days in those years, not due to slightly dryer/windier conditions over the entire summer.

FIGURE 3. Weather variable frequency distributions (percent frequency of days with weather values within each range class, versus weather variable midpoints of the range classes) for large and small-area-burned years with predicted regression lines. Note that the y-axis was log-transformed indicating that these distributions were negative exponentials. Slopes were compared using t-tests following Zar (1984).

.

.



## Fire intensity comparison between large and small fire years

Mean intensity predictions for large-area-burned years were different from small-area-burned years (Table 9, p < 0.001: see Figure 4), although there was also significant variation between the means for individual years within each class (p < p0.001). The mean intensities ( $\pm$  standard deviations) were 41.4  $\pm$  17.26 kW m<sup>-1</sup> in small-area-burned years, and 105.8  $\pm$  15.16 kW m<sup>-1</sup>. The mean intensity predictions were not highly informative as to how fires would burn, because they included all low intensity days as well as high days. Instead the means indicated that large-area-burned years generally had greater fire behaviour potential than small-area-burned years. Thus, the null hypothesis that fire behaviour potential (due to differences in weather) was no different between the two categories was not accepted. Note from Figure 4 that most large-area-burned years have much higher means than most small-areaburned years, but also that there is some overlap. This overlap indicated that some large-area-burned years have weather similar to small-area-burned years and vice-versa. These could possibly indicate years in which large fires occurred during short-lived extreme weather periods, and alternatively years which had the kind of weather typical of large-area-burned years but during which no large wildfires occurred due to "missed opportunity".

TABLE 9. Analysis of variance comparison of intensity predictions between large and small-area-burned years. Intensity was predicted from Rothermel's model for 47 forest stands and 35 years of summer weather (July 01 -August 31) data. Years were nested within the large and small area burned categories to account for variation in individual years. Intensity was log-transformed: log (intensity+1).

N = 101990	R-SQUARED = 0.062					
ANALYS	SIS OF VARIA	ANCE TABLI	E			
SOURCE	DF	MS	F	Р		
<u></u>		<u></u>		·····		
GROUP <sup>1</sup>	1	17728.1	2246.5	< 0.001		
YEAR(GROUP) <sup>2</sup>	33	1087.7	137.8	< 0.001		
ERROR	101955	7.8				

1 Group = Large or small-area-burned years.

2 Year(Group) = Years nested within groups.

FIGURE 4. Mean intensity predictions with 95% confidence limits for each summer fire season (July 01 - August 31) from 1954-1988. Large-area-burned years are circled to demonstrate the difference between the two year categories. Means and confidence limits were calculated from logtransformed values (log intensity+1), used in the analysis of variance, and were then transformed back to the original scale, resulting in asymmetric confidence limits.



ň



48

## Fuel variables and stand age

None of the three fuel variables ( $F_v$ : surface fuel variable,  $C_p$ : passive crown fuel variable, and  $C_a$ : active crown fuel variable) had a significant relationship with any of the stand covariates (elevation, aspect, or slope) so these were dropped from the multiple regression model via the backward elimination procedure, leaving simple regression analyses between the fuel variables and stand age (Figure 5). The simple regression coefficients between each fuel variable and stand age are presented in Table 11. Note that the analysis was split into two sets: stands with ages less than 25 years were alternatively included or excluded from the analysis.

The surface fuel variable  $(F_v)$  was unrelated to age for stands older than 25 years (Table 10). However, among all stands there was a positive relationship with age which explained 18% of the regression sum of squares. However, this latter regression analysis was seriously affected by outliers and only the two lowest fuel variable values were causing the slope to become significant. The plot of surface fuel variable versus age (Figure 5a) indicated two distinct populations of stands with regard to the fuel variable: those with values below 600, and those above 800. The latter stands were found to differ from the others by having high fuel loads comprised of litter <u>or</u> moss, rather than an even mix of these two fuel components. The results of this regression analysis were that stand age was poorly related to the fuel variable, and thus the potential fire intensity (independent of weather's influence) was not **FIGURE 5.** Surface and crown fuel variables plotted against stand age. a) surface fuel variable  $(F_v)$ , b) passive crown fuel variable  $(C_p)$ ,

c) active crown fuel variable (C<sub>a</sub>).

.

.



**TABLE 10.** Simple regression coefficients of surface and crown fuel variables (log<br/>transformed) versus stand age (log transformed) in two sets: all ages and<br/>ages < 25 y removed.</th>

				x		
DEP. VAR.	YEARS	COEFF.	Ν	t	p	
log(F <sub>v</sub> )	ALL	0.473	47	3.136	0.003	
log(F <sub>v</sub> )	> 25	0.104	42	0.537	0.594	
$\log(C_p)$	ALL	-0.294	47	-1.065	0.292	
$log(C_p)$	> 25	0.205	42	0.581	0.564	
$\log(C_a)$	ALL	0.966	47	5.194	0.000	
$log(C_a)$	> 25	0.326	42	1.393	0.171	

 $F_v$ : Surface Fuel Variable (kW m<sup>-1</sup>)

C<sub>p</sub>: Passive Crown Fuel Variable (dimensionless)

C<sub>a</sub>: Active Crown Fuel Variable (dimensionless)

strongly related to stand age.

The passive crown fuel variable was unrelated to age if all ages were examined or if stands less than 25 years of age were removed (Table 10; Figure 5b). These results arise from the wide variation in mean lower crown base heights (see Appendix 1). Thus, passive crown fire initiation does not relate to age. Like the surface fuel variable, the active crown fuel variable was very low in stands younger than 25 y (Figure 5c) so that a significant relationship to age was seen if these were included, but no relationship was found for ages greater than 25 y alone. The five stands younger than 25 y did not have a closed-crown and thus crown fuel loads and bulk densities were much lower and critical rates of spread were disproportionately higher (Appendix 1). Thus, like the surface fuel variable, the active crown fire initiation variable was unrelated to stand age throughout most of the age of the stands, but showed a significant increase if stands less than 25 years of age were included. This may indicate that fuel variables undergo an initial increase from sometime between 0 and 50 years (or during closed-crown development), followed by no further increases throughout the age of the stand.

### Fuel variables and stand types

In this analysis, the three fuel variables were examined using analyses of variance between the three stand types (pine, spruce, and pine-spruce mix: Table 11). The 5 stands less than 25 y were excluded from this analysis so as not to affect the results. The surface fuel variable did not differ among the three stand types (ANOVA:

p > 0.1). The mean value for the fuel variable (back transformed from the logarithmic form) was 412 kW m<sup>-1</sup> (lower 95% confidence limit (lcl) = 348, upper 95% confidence limit (ucl) = 488). The passive crown fuel variable also did not differ significantly among stand types (ANOVA p > 0.25). The mean value was found to be 0.37 (lcl=0.25, ucl=0.49). The active crown fuel variable, however, was significantly different (p < 0.001) among classes. Tukey test results indicated that spruce differed from both pine and the pine/spruce mix classes, while the pine and mix classes did not differ. The means of the active crown fuel variable for each of the three stand types were: pine: 0.81 (lcl=0.61, ucl=1.03); mix: 0.49 (lcl=0.32, ucl=0.68); spruce: 1.44 (lcl=1.07, ucl=1.88).

**TABLE 11.** Analysis of variance model results followed by Tukey tests where appropriate, comparing the three fuel variables among the 3 stand types.

## A. Surface Fuel Variable

Test Performed	D.F.	F	Р	Conclusion
ANOVA	2,39	1.805	>0.1	No differences

## Tukey: N.A.

## **B.** Passive Crown Fuel Variable

Test	D.F.	F	Р	Conclusion
ANOVA	2,39	1.103	>0.25	No differences

## Tukey: N.A.

## C. Active Crown Fuel Variable

Test ANOVA	D.F. 2,39	F 11.498	P <0.001	Conclusion Classes differ	
<u></u>					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Tukey	Mean 1	Mean 2	q	D.F.	Р
pine vs spruce	0.257	0.388	4.890	39, 3	< 0.005
pine vs mix	0.257	0.172	2.592	39, 3	> 0.1
mix vs spruce	0.172	0.388	6.290	39, 3	< 0.001

## DISCUSSION

Predicted forest fire behaviour in lower subalpine *Pinus contorta - Picea* engelmannii forests of the southern Canadian Rocky Mountains, based on Rothermel's (1972) and Van Wagner's (1977) models, is much more strongly related to weather variation (over time) than to fuel variation (among stands). 83% of the variation in surface fire intensity was explained by the weather variable, whereas only 15% was explained by the fuel variable. Likewise, variation in crown fire initiation was much more strongly related to the weather variable than to the active or passive crown fuel variables. Furthermore, the weather variable controlled conditions in which fires could or could not burn, (*i.e.* when the value of the weather variable was zero, conditions were too wet for burning to occur in the models). In comparison, the fuel variable was always greater than zero and therefore could not be controlling whether or not fires could burn.

Weather is much more important than fuel in fire behaviour for two reasons. First, weather is more strongly associated with the mechanisms of fire behaviour than fuel. For example, windspeed strongly affects heat transfer rates by increasing both radiative heat transfer (due to flame tilt) and convective heat transfer (Rothermel 1972). Fuel combustibility and heat loss rates are also strongly dependent on the moisture content of the fuels (Rothermel 1972). In contrast, fuel primarily acts as the burn substrate which provides the heat of combustion for the fire, and fuels also determine the base rate of combustion as a function of the size class distribution and packing ratio of fuel particles (Rothermel 1972). Thus, fuels set the base rates or base intensity which is modified up or down by many orders of magnitude depending on the moisture content and wind speed. This can be seen directly via the fuel and weather variables whose product is intensity. Each stand has a static fuel variable value which dictates the intensity the fire would burn under conditions of no weather (no weather here means 0 % moisture content and 0 m s<sup>-1</sup> wind speed). The fuels determine a single, static value, which can be modified down (by weather variable values from 0 to 0.99) to much lower intensities, or up (by weather variable values from 1 to 30 or more) to much higher intensities.

The second reason that fuels are less important than weather is that the rates of change of weather (moisture content and windspeed) within a forest stand greatly exceeds the rates of change of fuel loads, size class distribution, or packing ratio within stands. Fuel moisture contents may range from approximately 5 to over 100 percent (by dry mass) and fine fuel moisture which is most important in Rothermel's (1972) model have a 1 hour response time in which they can lose approximately 2/3 of their moisture (Bradshaw et al 1984), hence the name 1 hour time-lag fuels. Windspeed may range from 0 to over 100 km h<sup>-1</sup> and can change within a few minutes to a few hours. Some of the most spectacular wildfire runs have occurred when windspeed suddenly increases by 2-3 times its previous speed (Simard et al 1983, Fryer and Johnson 1988) indicating the strong role of variation in this component.

Fuel variation within stands occurs over such long periods (years to decades)

that it may almost be ignored. The only important variation in fuel loads exists among stands of differing forest type and history (stand age, developmental stage, past disturbance, etc.). This could affect a fire which passes from one stand type to another, especially if their were large differences in crown base height or surface fuel load. However, the amount of variation among stands is still generally low. In the stands sampled in Kananaskis, Alberta, total burnable fuel loads ranged from 0.5 to 3.6 kg m<sup>-2</sup> (Appendix 1), which amounts to only a 7-fold difference among stands, and crown base heights (for stands which had closed crown development) ranged from 1.3 to 13.7 m or a 10-fold difference. The fuel loads reported here are not substantially different from ones in similar Pinus contorta forests (e.g. Brown and Bevins 1986, Romme 1982, Fischer 1981, Lawson 1973, Muraro 1971, Kiil 1968). Fuel loads represent a balance between new inputs and decomposition, which explains why the fuel loads are constrained from increasing to extremely high values or from decreasing until no fuel remains (Turner and Long 1975). Often larger biomass components such as the duff layer and large logs are observed to vary over a much greater range than the smaller fuels (Spies et al. 1988, Lotan et al. 1985, Romme 1982, Fischer 1981), but large fuel components play only a minor role in the active spread rate and intensity at the fire front compared to the role of fine dead or cured fuels (Brown 1983, Rothermel 1972). Although the amount of variation in the fuels reported above may seem high, remember that this must be compared to the variation in the weather variable. The fuel variable did not reach values below 20 kW m<sup>-1</sup> or above 1600 kW m<sup>-1</sup> meaning that fire behaviour predictions were constrained to an approximate 80-fold difference

related to fuel variation, compared to a 10 000-fold difference related to variation in the weather variable.

More important to the understanding of the comparative role of fuels in fire behaviour stems from the relationship shown in the crown fire graphical model (Figure 2) and the relationship between this result and the weather variable analyses. The first result showed that the crown fire initiation threshold can be achieved by most conifer stands at the weather variable value of 10 or more. The weather variable analysis showed, however, that values in excess of 10 are extremely rare, occurring only in 0.2 percent of days on average for the July-August fire season. However, the likelihood of crown fire weather was 3 times higher in large-area-burned years when compared to small-area-burned years. Predicted weather variable values throughout the entire range of this variable, and more importantly, predicted intensity for fires occurring in largearea-burned years were also substantially higher than values in small-area-burned years. In combination, these two results support the idea that weather differences (at very high to extreme values) between the two year-classes are driving the occurrence of large and small-area-burned years, and thus, that fires which burn during those years are typically high intensity/crown fires in which the role of fuel variation in determining fire behaviour variation is relatively unimportant. (The hypothesized mechanism which relates large area burned fires to crown fires is that crown fires have much greater rates of spread than surface fires (Van Wagner 1980), such that larger areas burn within a given time period.) The importance of this connection is made more clear by the relative importance of the area of fires which burn (in large crown
fires) in large-area-burned years as opposed to the area of small fires which burn in marginal weather during large or small-area-burned years; 99 percent of the area burned by non-intentionally set fires occurs in the large fires of large-area-burned years, while only 1 percent of the total area is burned by all other non-intentional fires (J. Weir and E. Johnson pers. comm.). Thus, fires which are significantly affected by fuel variation are not important in the fire cycle of the Canadian Rocky Mountains. These areas may still be important as mortality agents in localized areas, but are unimportant forces of mortality over the entire forested landscape when compared to larger fires.

In this study, fuels were not found to be strongly related to age or stand composition class with two notable exceptions. First, stands less than 25 years of age have considerably lower surface fuel variable values and active crown fuel variable values. This reflects the lack of closed crown development in these stands and also little source for fuel input other than herbaceous regrowth. Nevertheless, it is unlikely that these stands will differ substantially in fires in large-area-burned years because the passive crown fuel variable is still unrelated to age in these young stands and because the passive crown fuel variable is the more important variable in the determination of crown fire initiation. Differences due to age would only be prominent in fires which burn during marginal weather in small-area-burned years. Second, spruce stands have much higher active crown fuel variable values than pine or mixed pine/spruce stands. This reflects the much greater basal areas of spruce stands which results in greater crown fuel volumes than seen in pine forests. Again, the same argument as used above is applied to show that this is not a likely factor affecting fire behaviour in large-area-burned years. Independent of the weather reasons, though, it can be seen that other than the exception noted, there is very low relationship between stand age and fuels, and thus for all fires, large or small, fire behaviour will be essentially unrelated to age.

Why do so many ecologists think that fuels are highly important to fire behaviour in coniferous forests? A simple answer to this may be that some fire ecologists believe that fire is mainly a plant community attribute (e.g. Heinselman 1973, Mutch 1970). Fuels are also easily measured and can be more easily managed as compared to fuel moisture content or windspeed. These reasons have probably been partially responsible for numerous studies on fuel loading in coniferous forests (e.g. Fischer 1981). Fuel loading as stands age has also been shown in some ecosystem types, notably surface fire affected systems such as chaparral (Riggan et al. 1988), to be key to understanding the fire regime in those types, and this has been extrapolated to conifer systems as a working model of fire behaviour even though this age-fuel relationship does not hold for closed canopy coniferous subalpine forests in this study or others (Romme 1982, Fahnestock 1976). Thus, changes in plant structure and fuel loads over time are assumed to play an important role in fire behaviour and frequency in coniferous forests of different ages (Romme and Despain 1989) even if evidence for this is not strong (Renkin and Despain 1992). Finally, it seems clear that many ecologists have misunderstood the role of weather in determining the patterns of fire occurrence and area burned. Fires which occur in marginal weather may often be

strongly affected by age, fuel load or crown structural differences while those which burn during extreme weather are unaffected by these factors (Fryer and Johnson 1988, Johnson and Larsen 1991). For example, during moderate weather a fire burning in a spruce dominated stand with low crown bases can more easily maintain crown fire status than the fire which passes out of the spruce stand into a pine stand with elevated crown bases (*e.g.* Despain and Sellars 1977), while in extreme weather conditions spruce and pine stands will burn equally well as crown fires (*e.g.* Fire Danger Group 1992). Unfortunately, it is still the opinion of some ecologists that large fires such as the Yellowstone fires of 1988 (Romme and Despain 1989) were not normal fire events and that most fires have behaviour determined by fuel variation among stand ages and types (D. Despain pers. comm., W. Romme pers. comm.). Given the arguments above about the areas burned by large and small fires, it is more likely that the reverse is true.

### CONCLUSION

Variation in surface fire intensity in lower subalpine forest stands in the southern Canadian Rockies (predicted from Rothermel's 1972 model), was primarily determined by weather (fuel moisture and windspeed), rather than by variation due to fuels. Fires which occur in low to moderate weather conditions remain small surface fires or intermittent crown fires, while those in extreme conditions often become large crown fires. In these weather conditions, crown fires will initiate from all surface fires independent of fuel conditions or stand type.

Fire behaviour should be directly related to regional patterns of weather which influence fuel moisture contents and windspeeds, rather than ecosystem properties which affect fuel loads and structure. Thus, fire behaviour should not vary strongly with stand age or with species composition types. Fire behaviour research should be directed towards understanding weather phenomena and their relationship to fire behaviour events, as well as to regional fire patterns.

The lack of any strong relationships between fuel variables (and thus fire behaviour) and age or stand classes, and the overall larger importance of weather than fuel in fire behaviour supports the use of the negative exponential model for determining fire frequencies from stand age distributions (Johnson and Larsen 1991, Masters 1990, Johnson, Fryer, and Heathcott 1990). This is because the negative exponential model assumes the fire hazard to be constant with age, and to affect all stands with equal probability (Johnson and Van Wagner 1985).

### LITERATURE CITED

- Agee, J.K. and Huff, M.H. 1987. Fuel succession in a western hemlock-Douglas fir forest. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 17: 697-704.
- Albini, F.A. 1976. Estimating Wildfire Behaviour and Effects. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report INT-30.
- ASTM 1988. Standard test methods for specific gravity of wood and wood-base materials. Annual book of Standards, pp. 357-368. American Society for Testing of Materials. Philadelphia Pa.
- Bradshaw, L.S., Deeming, J.E., Burgan, R.E., and Cohen, J.D. 1984. The 1978 National Fire Danger Rating System: Technical Documentation. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report. INT-169.
- Brown J.K. 1970. Ratios of surface area to volume for common fine fuels. Forest Science 16: 101-105.
- Brown, J.K. 1974. Handbook for Inventorying Downed Woody Material. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report INT-16.
- Brown, J.K. 1978. Weight and Density of Crowns of Northern Rocky Mountain Conifers. USDA Forest Service Research Paper INT-197.
- Brown, J.K. 1983. The unnatural fuel buildup issue. In: Proceedings: Symposium and Workshop on Wilderness Fire. Nov 15-18 1983. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report INT-182. Pp 127-128.
- Brown, J.K. and Bevins, C.D. 1986. Surface Fuel Loadings and Predicted Fire Behavior for Vegetation Types of the Northern Rocky Mountains. USDA Forest Service Research Note INT-358.
- Brown, J.K., Oberheu, R.D. and Johnston, C.M. 1982. Handbook for Inventorying Surface Fuels in the Interior West. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report INT-129.
- Byram, G.M. 1959. Combustion of forest fuels. In Forest Fire: Control and Use, ed. K.P. Davis, pp. 61-89. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Clark, J.S. 1988. Effect of climate change on fire regimes in northwestern Minnesota. Nature 334: 233-235.

- Clark, J.S. 1989. Effects of long-term water balances on fire regime, north-western Minnesota. Journal of Ecology 77: 989-1004.
- Despain, D.G. 1990. Yellowstone Vegetation: Consequences of Environment in a Natural Setting. Roberts Reinhart Publishers. Boulder, Colorado.
- Despain, D.G. and Sellers, R.E. 1977. Natural fires in Yellowstone National Park. Western Wildlands 4: 20-24.
- Fahnestock, G.R. 1976. Fires, fuels, flora, as factors in wilderness management: the Pasayten Case. Annual Proceedings: Tall Timbers Fire Ecology Conference No. 15. Tall Timbers Research Station. Tallahassee, Florida.
- Fire Danger Group 1992. Development and Structure of the Canadian Forest Fire Behavior Prediction System. Forestry Canada Information Report ST-X-3.
- Fischer, W.C. 1981. Photo Guide for Appraising Downed Woody Fuels in Montana Forests: Lodgepole Pine and Engelmann Spruce-Subalpine Fir Cover Types. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report INT-98.
- Fryer, G.I. and Johnson, E.A. 1988. Reconstructing fire behaviour and effects in a subalpine forest. Journal of Applied Ecology 25: 1063-1072.
- Habeck, J.R. and Mutch R.W. 1973. Fire-dependent forests in the northern rocky mountains. Quaternary Research 3: 408-424.
- Heinselman, M.L. 1973. Fire in the virgin forests of the Boundary Waters Canoe Area, Minnesota. Quaternary Research 3: 329-382.
- Johnson, A.F., Woodard, P.M. and Titus, S.J. 1990. Lodgepole pine and white spruce crown fuel weights predicted from diameter at breast height. Forestry Chronicle 66: 596-599.
- Johnson, E.A. and Fryer, G.I. 1989. Population dynamics in lodgepole pine-Engelmann spruce forests. Ecology 70: 1335-1345.
- Johnson, E.A., Fryer, G.I. and Heathcott, M.J. 1990. The influence of man and climate on frequency of fire in the interior wet belt forest, British Columbia. Journal of Ecology 78: 403-412.
- Johnson, E.A. and Larsen, C.P.S. 1991. Climatically induced change in fire frequency in the southern Canadian Rockies. Ecology 72: 194-201.

- Johnson, E.A. and Miyanishi, K. 1991. Fire and population dynamics of lodgepole pine and Engelmann spruce forests in the southern Canadian Rockies. In: Nakagoshi, N. and Golley, F.B. eds. Coniferous Forest Ecology from an International Perspective. Pp 77-91. SPB Academic Publishing. The Hague, Netherlands.
- Johnson, E.A. and Van Wagner, C.E. 1985. The theory and use of two fire history models. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 15: 214-220.
- Johnson, E.A. and Wowchuk, D.R. 1993. Wildfires in the southern Canadian Rocky Mountains and their relationship to mid-tropospheric anomalies. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. *In press*.
- Keane, R.E., Arno, S.F. and Brown, J.K. 1990. Simulating cumulative fire effects in ponderosa pine/Douglas-fir forests. Ecology 71: 189-203.
- Kiil, A.D. 1968. Weight of the Fuel Complex in 70-year-old Lodgepole Pine Stands of Different Densities. Ministry of Forestry and Rural Development, Forestry Branch, Departmental Publication 1228.
- Lawson, B.D. 1973. Fire Behavior in Lodgepole Pine Stands Related to the Canadian Fire Weather Index. Dept. Environment, Canadian Forestry Service, Information Report BC-X-76.
- Lotan, J.E., Brown, J.K. and Neuenschwander, L.F. 1985. Role of fire in lodgepole pine forests. In: Baumgartner, D.M., Krebill, G., Arnott, J.T. and Weetman, G.F. eds. Lodgepole Pine The Species and its Management. Pp 133-152. Symposium Proceedings. Washington State University. Pullman Wash.
- Masters, A.M. 1990. Changes in forest fire frequency in Kootenay National Park, Canadian Rockies. Canadian Journal of Botany 68: 1763-1767.
- McRae, D.G., Alexander, M.E., and Stocks, B.J. 1979. Measurement and Description of Fuels and Fire Behaviour on Prescribed Burns: A Handbook. Canadian Forestry Service Report O-X-287.
- Muraro, S.J. 1971. The Lodgepole Pine Fuel Complex. Canadian Forestry Service Information Report BC-X-53.
- Mutch, R.W. 1970. Wildland fires and ecosystems a hypothesis. Ecology 51: 1046-1051.
- Pech, G. 1989. A model to predict the moisture content of reindeer lichen. Forest Science 35: 1014-1028.

- Renkin, R.A. and Despain, D.G. 1992. Fuel moisture, forest type, and lightning-caused fire in Yellowstone National Park. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 22: 37-45.
- Riggan, P.J., Goode, S., Jacks, P.M. and Lockwood, R.N. 1988. Interaction of fire and community development in chaparral of southern California. Ecological Monographs 58: 155-176.
- Romme, W.H. 1982. Fire and landscape diversity in subalpine forests of Yellowstone National Park. Ecological Monographs 52: 199-221.
- Romme, W.H. and Despain, D.G. 1989. Historic perspective on the Yellowstone fires of 1988: A reconstruction of prehistoric fire history reveals that comparable fires occurred in the early 1700's. BioScience 39: 695-699.
- Romme, W.H. and Knight, D.H. 1981. Fire frequency and subalpine forest succession along a topographic gradient in Wyoming. Ecology 62: 319-226.
- Rothermel, R.C. 1972. A Mathematical Model for Predicting Fire Spread in Wildland Fuels. USDA Forest Service Research Paper INT-115.
- Rothermel, R.C. 1983. How to Predict the Spread and Intensity of Forest and Range Fires. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report INT-143.
- Rothermel, R.C. 1991. Predicting Behaviour and Size of Crown Fires in the Northern Rocky Mountains. USDA Forest Service Research Paper INT-438.
- Simard, A.J., Haines, D.A., Blank, R.W., and Frost, J.S. 1983. The Mack Lake Fire. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report NC-83.
- Singh, T. 1982. Biomass Equations for Ten Major Tree Species of the Prairie Provinces. Environment Canada, Canadian Forestry Service, Information Report. NOR-X-242.
- Spies, T.A., Franklin, J.F. and Thomas, T.B. 1988. Course woody debris in Douglas-fir forests of western Oregon and Washington. Ecology 69: 1689-1702.
- Springer, E.A. and Van Wagner, C.E. 1984. The seasonal foliar moisture content trend of black spruce at Kapuskasing, Ontario. Canadian Forestry Service Bi-monthly Research Notes 4: 39-42.
- Swetnam, T.W. and Betancourt, J.L. 1990. Fire-southern oscillation relations in the southwestern United States. Science 249: 1017-1020.

- Sylvester, T.W. and Wein, R.W. 1981. Fuel characteristics of Arctic plant species and simulated plant community flammability from Rothermel's model. Canadian Journal of Botany 59: 898-907.
- Turner, J. and Long, J.N. 1975. Accumulation of organic matter in a series of Douglasfir stands. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 5: 681-690.
- Van Wagner, C.E. 1968. The line intercept method in forest fuel sampling. Forest Science 14: 20-26.
- Van Wagner, C.E. 1977. Conditions for the start and spread of crown fires. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. 7: 23-34.
- Van Wagner, C.E. 1980. Fire behaviour in northern conifer forests and shrublands. In Wein, R.W. and MacLean D.A., eds. Fire in Northern Circumpolar Ecosystems. Pp 45-80. Academic Press. New York.
- Van Wagner C.E. 1987. Development and Structure of the Canadian Forest Fire Weather Index System. Canadian Forestry Service Technical Report 35.
- Zar, J.H. 1984. Biostatistical Analysis. Second Edition. Prentice-Hall Inc. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey.

,

Stand fuel data the 47 lower subalpine stands including stand age, mean fuel component loads and crown heights. Also included there are the calculated mean depths and surface area to volume ratios from Rothermel's (1972) model, the fuel variable, critical intensity and critical rate of spread, and crown fuel variables.

			TIME-LAG	CLASS FUEL I	.OADS	
SITE	AGE	LITTER	1 HOUR	10 HOUR	100 HOUR	MOSS
	(y)	(kg m <sup>-2</sup> )				
1	101	0.58	0.09	0.05	0.11	0.65
2	125	0.94	0.05	0.13	0.42	0.47
3	81	0.59	0.08	0.29	1.70	0.84
4	54	0.85	0.07	0.13	0.06	0.21
5	70	0.62	0.06	0.12	0.49	0.63
6	70	0.48	0.05	0.25	0.63	0.80
7	109	0.56	0.17	0.03	0.06	0.64
8	258	0.88	0.14	0.17	1.59	0.46
9	54	1.38	0.10	0.15	0.22	0.04
10	54	0.71	0.06	0.11	0.13	0.44
11	99	0.53	0.09	0.11	0.62	0.80
12	202	0.04	0.10	0.05	0.21	1.31
13	109	0.92	0.18	0.32	0.53	0.33
14	216	0.21	0.09	0.07	0.15	1.13
15	211	2.00	0.13	0.10	0.11	0.38
16	99	0.93	0.09	0.09	0.13	0.47
17	224	0.88	0.13	0.15	0.69	0.40
18	120	0.40	0.08	0.08	0.70	1.09
19	57	1.15	0.05	0.05	0.12	0.04
20	112	0.95	0.11	0.11	0.41	0.34
21	70	1.02	0.08	0.17	0.89	0.37
22	132	0.63	0.07	0.02	0.09	0.58
23	86	0.54	0.07	0.19	0.61	0.86
24	100	0.79	0.07	0.05	0.17	0.65
25	100	0.73	0.04	0.48	0.19	0.87
26	86	0.81	0.09	0.11	0.17	0.58
27	125	1.20	0.05	0.13	0.55	0.21
28	86	0.96	0.05	0.06	0.05	0.48
29	57	1.96	0.04	0.02	0.18	0.17
30	132	0.56	0.11	0.03	0.15	0.73
31	150	0.38	0.05	0.08	0.40	1.06
32	220	0.13	0.05	0.04	0.32	1.20
33	125	0.23	0.05	0.26	1.23	1.24
34	212	0.52	0.05	0.04	0.19	0.74
35	23	0.50	0.06	0.14	0.90	0.03
36	23	0.15	0.08	0.12	0.07	0.00
37	120	0.68	0.03	0.02	0.15	0.04
38	92	1.14	0.21	0.15	0.20	0.36
39	120	0.69	0.06	0.08	0.94	0.74
40	124	0.63	0.15	0.10	0.31	0.76
41	22	0.22	0.21	0.73	0.93	0.00
42	22	1.07	0.06	0.23	0.81	0.05
43	22	0.88	0.03	0.21	0.51	0.12
44	132	0.92	0.07	0.10	0.21	0.53
45	81	1.06	0.05	0.06	0.25	0.62
46	216	0.57	0.12	0.13	0.56	0.94
47	202	0.72	0.06	0.08	0.43	0.97

.

SITE	FUEL LOADS (CONTD)		TOTAL	BULK	FUEL	SA/	
	HERBS	SHRUB	FUEL	DENSITY	DEPTH	VOL.	
	(kg m <sup>-2</sup> )	(kg m <sup>-2</sup> )	(kg m <sup>-2</sup> )	(kg m <sup>-3</sup> )	(m)	(cm <sup>-1</sup> )	
1	0.05	0.05	1.57	3.55	0.44	82.6	
2	0.04	0.01	2.07	5.40	0.38	73.8	
3	0.06	0.03	3.58	9.27	0.39	83.9	
4	0.09	0.10	1.52	3.30	0.46	65.2	
5	0.10	0.01	2.03	5.62	0.36	81.5	
6	0.07	0.00	2.29	6.47	0.35	86.3	
7	0.02	0.01	1.48	3.97	0.37	82.8	
8	0.04	0.04	3.32	8.20	0.41	72.6	
9	0.04	0.11	2.04	3.92	0.52	51.7	
10	0.05	0.01	1.52	4.18	0.36	76.5	
11	0.06	0.04	2.24	5.49	0.41	85.1	
12	0.09	0.17	1.96	3.83	0.51	95.7	
13	0.04	0.38	2.70	4.02	0.67	64.9	
14	0.03	0.04	1.72	3.93	0.44	94.0	
15	0.06	0.08	2.85	6.29	0.45	62.8	
16	0.05	0.18	1.94	3.36	0.58	72.4	
17	0.06	0.07	2.37	5.42	0.44	71.4	
18	0.04	0.02	2.40	6.31	0.38	90.5	
19	0.10	0.02	1.52	4.08	0.37	54.8	
20	0.17	0.24	2.34	4.78	0.49	67.9	
21	0.08	0.07	2.68	6.21	0.43	68.9	
22	0.10	0.02	1.50	4.08	0.37	81.0	
23	0.06	0.08	2.42	5.33	0.46	85.3	
24	0.06	0.02	1.81	4.69	0.39	79.9	
25	0.08	0.00	2.38	6.71	0.35	83.5	
26	0.13	0.12	2.01	4.45	0.45	76.9	
27	0.06	0.02	2.22	5.88	0.38	62.3	
28	0.11	0.03	1.73	4.53	0.38	74.3	
29	0.10	0.07	2.55	5.94	0.43	57.8	
30	0.12	0.10	1.81	4.15	0.44	83.1	
31	0.09	0.00	2.05	5.86	0.35	90.8	
32	0.06	0.07	1.87	4.10	0.45	95.4	
33	0.07	0.01	3.09	8.60	0.36	93.3	
34	0.20	0.09	1.84	4.52	0.41	84.1	
35	0.03	0.03	1.69	4.19	0.40	53.4	
36	0.03	0.03	0.49	1.16	0.42	49.2	
37	0.09	0.00	1.01	2.89	0.35	57.6	
38	0.13	0.14	2.33	5.23	0.45	66.9	
39	0.07 ·	0.11	2.70	5.64	0.48	81.4	
40	0.08	0.23	2.26	4.07	0.55	81.3	
41	0.05	0.19	2.33	4.57	0.51	39.5	
42	0.11	0.10	2.43	5.58	0.44	54.1	
43	0.09	0.03	1.87	4.81	0.39	60.4	
44	0.10	0.05	1.97	4.84	0.41	75.4	
45	0.04	0.01	2.09	5.47	0.38	76.0	
46	0.08	0.05	2.46	6.00	0.41	85.8	
47	0.03	0.03	2.32	5.41	0.43	85.2	

•

.

SITE	CROWN	CROWN	TREE	FUEL	CRIT.	CRIT.	PASS.	ACTIVE
	DEPTH	BASE	FOL.	VAR	INTENS.	R.O.S.	CROWN	CROWN
	(m)	(m)	(kg m <sup>-2</sup> )	(kW m <sup>-1</sup> )	(kW m <sup>-1</sup> )	(m s <sup>-1</sup> )	VAR.	VAR.
1	7.9	3.0	1.04	365	871	0.38	0.419	0.447
2	7.1	7.2	1.12	310	3256	0.32	0.095	0.405
3	4.7	10.1	1.16	183	5463	0.20	0.033	0.334
4	2.1	4.4	1.40	342	1553	0.08	0.220	2.240
5	4.6	4.7	2.42	219	1729	0.10	0.127	1.096
6	3.2	5.5	2.05	260	2206	0.08	0.118	1.342
7	11.2	2.1	3.56	330	508	0.16	0.649	0.968
8	5.7	6.4	2.52	170	2733	0.11	0.062	0.651
9	5.3	6.0	0.94	1330	2492	0.28	0.534	1.090
10	3.9	6.0	1.08	252	2501	0.18	0.101	0.724
11	7.5	4.9	2.85	317	1847	0.13	0.172	0.966
12	6.0	5.9	2.03	1416	2450	0.15	0.578	2.228
13	12.3	4.9	0.77	360	1825	0.80	0.197	0.202
14	4.1	5.4	1.23	973	2147	0.17	0.453	1.603
15	6.8	4.1	2.25	1275	1429	0.15	0.892	1.595
16	4.6	13.7	1.06	460	8553	0.21	0.054	0.913
17	6.9	5.1	1.40	253	1959	0.25	0.129	0.470
18	6.3	4.3	2.89	499	1513	0.11	0.330	1.343
19	5.9	1.5	0.77	825	309	0.38	2.671	0.630
20	3.7	3.1	0.83	283	918	0.22	0.308	0.585
21	7.4 ·	6.1 ·	0.73	279	2533	0.51	0.110	0.222
22	5.8	3.9	2.44	277	1326	0.12	0.209	1.164
23	3.7	7.2	2.20	379	3243	0.08	0.117	1.701
24	8.9	9.4	1.72	358	4850	0.26	0.074	0.573
25	3.7	3.7	1.90	322	1200	0.10	0.269	1.168
26	6.4	6.8	1.73	311	3030	0.18	0.103	0.768
27	5.6	2.8	0.73	498	807	0.38	0.617	0.410
28	10.6	4.4	1.04	361	1554	0.51	0.232	0.296
29	7.6	4.3	1.14	1563	1484	0.33	1.054	0.822
30	5.9	2.9	2.56	345	843	0.11	0.409	1.346
31	8.2	9.0	3.23	502	4555	0.13	0.110	1.213
32	4.7	4.6	2.47	1093	1644	0.09	0.665	2.930
33	4.9	6.6	0.94	442	2897	0.26	0.152	0.427
34	3.8	1.3	2.00	306	240	0.10	1.278	1.454
35	3.1	0.1	0.26	151	200	0.58	0.753	0.176
36	1.6	0.2	0.05	23	200	1.55	0.114	0.036
37	6.7	0.2	0.66	321	200	0.51	1.607	0.337
38	9.2	1.5	2.55	392	305	0.18	1.288	0.816
39	6.7	3.5	1.19	298	1112	0.28	0.268	0.438
40	4.0	3.7	3.80	405	1198	0.05	0.338	3,183
41	4.5	0.2	0.10	63	200	2.21	0.314	0.030
42	4.9	0.3	0.26	485	200	0.96	2.427	0.167
43	5.8	0.5	0.38	314	200	0.77	1.569	0.180
44	3.9	4.4	1.68	332	1558	0.12	0.213	1.200
45	7.2	6.2	1.36	419	2598	0.26	0.161	0.561
46	5.0	3.9	2.28	381	1322	0.11	0.288	1.207
47	8.9	5.6	1.97	517	2261	0.23	0.229	0.729
								-

Figure A1. Fuel loads (kg m<sup>-2</sup>) of the litter, 1 hour time-lag fuels, 10 hour timelag fuels, 100 hour time-lag fuels, moss/lichen, live herbs, and live shrubs versus stand age (years). Each graph has lines representing the mean, upper and lower standard deviations.

.

.

.

•



Fire behaviour program followed by symbol list. This program was written in Fortran and compiled using a WATFOR77<sup>1</sup> compiler. Fire intensity was predicted using Rothermel's (1972) model, as converted to metric by Wilson (1980)<sup>2</sup> with corrections to the metric conversion by the author. Note one major change is that fuel bed depth is calculated in which each fuel component has a characteristic depth, and the mean depth is determined using component fuel load as the weighting factor. Crown fire initiation calculations determine values of 0 when there is no initiation, and values of 1 when there is initiation, for both crown fire types. The program also determines fuel and weather variables as defined in the model section of the introduction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Coschi, G. and J.B. Schuler. 1987. WATFOR-77. Users Guide for the IBM PC with DOS. Watcom Publications Ltd. Waterloo, Ontario.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Wilson, R. 1980. Reformulation of Forest Fire Spread Equations in S.I. Units. USDA Forest Service Research Note INT-292.

C FIRE BEHAVIOUR PROGRAM

IMPLICIT DOUBLE PRECISION (A-H,O-Z) INTEGER SITE,PCF,ACF REAL IR OPEN(10,FILE='(T:120)FUELS.DAT') OPEN(12,FILE='(T:100)OUTPUT.DAT')

C FUEL CONSTANTS, SA/VOL RATIOS AND DEPTHS

FMX=0.3	VM=100
H=20000	VF=75
SM=0.42	VS=15
P=500	DDEAD=30
S=0.0555	DH=30
VL=50	DS=100
V1=13	DL=5
V10=3	
V100=1	

- C WIND ADJUSTMENT FACTOR AND SLOPE WAF=0.37 SL=0
- C OUTSIDE LOOP
- 10 CONTINUE I=0
- C READING FUELS DATA READ (10,\*) SITE,ZL,Z1,Z10,Z100,ZM,ZF,ZS,CI,CR,ZN IF (ZL .EQ. 9999) THEN WRITE (6,\*) 'PROCESSING COMPLETE' STOP END IF
  - WRITE(6,\*)'PROCESSING SITE:',SITE
- C CALCULATION OF WEIGHTING FACTORS AL=VL\*ZL A1=V1\*Z1 A10=V10\*Z10 A100=V100\*Z100 AM=VM\*ZM AF=VF\*ZF AS=VS\*ZS ADEAD=AL+A1+A10+A100 ALIVE=AM+AF+AS AT=ADEAD+ALIVE BL=AL/ADEAD B1=A1/ADEAD B10=A10/ADEAD

B100=A100/ADEAD

BM=AM/ALIVE BF=AF/ALIVE BS=AS/ALIVE BDEAD=ADEAD/AT BLIVE=ALIVE/AT

- C CALCULATION OF MINERAL ADJUSTED FUEL LOADS WL=ZL\*(1-S) W10=Z10\*(1-S) W10=Z100\*(1-S) WM=ZM\*(1-S) WF=ZF\*(1-S) WS=ZS\*(1-S) WDEAD=BL\*WL+B1\*W1+B10\*W10+B100\*W100 WLIVE=BM\*WM+BF\*WF+BS\*WS
- C CALCULATION OF FUEL BED SURFACE AREA TO VOLUME RATIO VDEAD=BL\*VL+B1\*V1+B10\*V10+B100\*V100 VLIVE=BM\*VM+BF\*VF+BS\*VS VT=BDEAD\*VDEAD+BLIVE\*VLIVE
- C CALCULATION OF FUEL BED DEPTH DR=(A1+A10+A100)/(A1+A10+A100+AF+AS) DLIVE=(DH\*BF+DS\*BS)/(BF+BS) D=(DL+DDEAD\*DR+DLIVE\*(1-DR))/100
- C PACKING RATIO, REACTION RATE, AND PROP. FLUX RATIO W=ZL+Z1+Z10+Z100+ZM+ZF+ZS PB=W/D BETA=PB/P BOP=0.20395\*VT\*\*(-0.8189) BB=BETA/BOP TM=1./(0.0591+2.926\*VT\*\*(-1.5))/60 A=8.9033\*VT\*\*(-0.7913) T=TM\*(BB\*EXP(1-BB))\*\*A PF=((192+7.9095\*VT)\*\*(-1))\*EXP((0.792+3.7597\*VT\*\*0.5)\*(BETA+0.1))
- C START OF INTERNAL LOOP OPEN(11,FILE='(T:100)WEATHER.DAT') 20 CONTINUE
- C READ DATE AND WEATHER DATA READ (11,\*) JY,JD,FML,FM1,FM10,FM100,FMM,FMF,FMS,U IF (JY .EQ. 9999) THEN CLOSE(11) GO TO 10 END IF
- C CONVERSION OF UNITS FML=FML/100.

77

FM1=FM1/100. FM10=FM10/100. FM100=FM100/100. FMM=FMM/100. FMF=FMF/100. FMS=FMS/100.

- C LIVE FUEL MOISTURE OF EXTINCTION FMXL=(1.45\*(1.-((10./3.)\*FML)))-0.226 IF (FMXL .LT. 0.3) FMXL=0.3 IF (FMXL .GT. 1.0) FMXL=1.0
- C FUEL BED MOISTURE CONTENT FDEAD=BL\*FML+B1\*FM1+B10\*FM10+B100\*FM100 FLIVE=BM\*FMM+BF\*FMF+BS\*FMS FT=BDEAD\*FDEAD+BLIVE\*FLIVE FRD=FDEAD/FMX FRL=FLIVE/FMXL FDD=1-2.59\*FRD+5.11\*FRD\*\*2-3.52\*FRD\*\*3 IF (FDD .LT. 0) FDD=0. FDL=1-2.59\*FRL+5.11\*FRL\*\*2-3.52\*FRL\*\*3 IF (FDL .LT. 0) FDL=0
- C REACTION INTENSITY IR=T\*SM\*H\*(BDEAD\*WDEAD\*FDD+BLIVE\*WLIVE\*FDL)
- C WIND AND SLOPE VARIABLE CALCULATION UE=U\*WAF C=7.47\*EXP(-0.8711\*VT\*\*0.55) B=0.15988\*VT\*\*0.54 E=-1\*(0.715\*EXP(-0.01094\*VT)) UC=(C\*(3.28084\*UE\*60)\*\*B)\*BB\*\*E SLC=5.275\*BETA\*\*(-0.3)\*(TAN(SL))\*\*2
- С HEAT SINK CALCULATION QL=581+2594\*FML Q1=581+2594\*FM1 Q10=581+2594\*FM10 Q100=581+2594\*FM100 QM=581+2594\*FMM OF=581+2594\*FMF OS=581+2594\*FMS X=-4.528 QD=BL\*EXP(X/VL)\*QL+B1\*EXP(X/V1)\*Q1+B10\*EXP(X/V10) \*Q10+B100\*EXP(X/V100)\*Q100 QLIVE=BM\*EXP(X/VM)\*QM+BF\*EXP(X/VF)\*QF+BS\*EXP(X/VS)\*QS ED=BL\*EXP(X/VL)+B1\*EXP(X/V1)+B10\*EXP(X/V10)+B100\*EXP(X/V100) EL=BM\*EXP(X/VM)+BF\*EXP(X/VF)+BS\*EXP(X/VS) EMIX=BDEAD\*ED+BLIVE\*EL Q=PB\*(BDEAD\*QD+BLIVE\*QLIVE)

- C RESIDENCE TIME TR=755.66/VT
- C FINAL SURFACE FIRE CALCULATIONS R=IR\*PF\*(1+UC+SLC)/Q IPR=I I=IR\*R\*TR WMIX=BDEAD\*WDEAD+BLIVE\*WLIVE

SURFACE FUEL AND WEATHER VARIABLES UV=1+UC+SLC FV=(PF\*TR\*(WMIX\*T\*H\*SM)\*\*2)/(PB\*EMIX\*581) EV=I/FV GMV=EV/UV

CROWN FIRE CALCULATIONS CV1=FV/CI CI2=(CR\*12700\*WMIX)/3.34 CV2=FV/CI2 IF (I .LT. CI) THEN RVALUE=0 PCF=0 ACF=0 ELSE IF (I .GE. CI) THEN RVALUE=R\*3.34 PCF=1 IF (RVALUE .LT. CR) THEN ACF=0 ELSE ACF=1 END IF END IF GO TO 20 END

Α	CONSTANT IN T	BF	2° WT. FOLIAGE
A1	1° WEIGHT 1 HOUR	BL	2° WT. LITTER
A10	1° WT. 10 HOUR	BLIVE	2° WT. LIVE FUELS
A100	1° WT. 100 HOUR	BM	2° WT. MOSS
ADEAD	1° WT. DEAD FUELS	BOP	OPTIMUM PACK. RATIO
AF	1° WT. FOLIAGE	BS	2° WT. SHRUB
AL	1° WT. LITTER	С	CONSTANT IN UC
ALIVE	1° WT. LIVE FUELS	CI	CRITICAL INTENSITY
AM	1° WT. MOSS	CI2	ICRIT EQUIV. OF RCRIT
AS	1° WT. SHRUB	CR	CRIT. RATE OF SPREAD
AT	1° WT. TOTAL	CV1	1st CROWN FUEL VAR.
В	CONST. IN WIND COEF.	CV2	2ND CROWN FUEL VAR.
B1	2° WT. 1 HOUR	D	MEAN FUEL BED DEPTH
B10	2° WT. 10 HOUR	DDEAD	DEPTH OF DEAD FUELS
B100	2° WT. 100 HOUR	DDEAD	DEAD FUEL DEPTH
BB	BETA/BOP	DH	DEPTH OF HERBS
BDEAD	2° WT. DEAD FUELS	DL	DEPTH OF LITTER
BETA	PACKING RATIO	DLIVE	LIVE FUEL DEPTH

DR	DEAD:LIVE RATIO
DS	DEPTH OF SHRUBS
Е	CONSTANT IN UC
ED	HEATING NO. DEAD
EL	HEATING NO. LIVE
EMIX	HEATING NO. MIXED
EV	WEATHER VARIABLE
FDD	H-O DAMPING DEAD
FDEAD	DEAD FUEL H.O
FDI.	H <sub>0</sub> DAMPING LIVE
FLIVE	LIVE FUEL H.O
FM1	$1H$ FIFL $H_0$
FM10	10H FUEL H.O
FM100	100H FUEL H O
FMF	FOLIAGE H O
FMI	LITTER HO
FMM	MOSS H O
FMS	SHRIP HO
FMY	DEAD HO EXTRICT
EMEN	$L IVE U \cap EXTINCT$
FULL	$LIVE H_2 O EXTINCI.$
FDI	
FRL	MEAN FILL PED U O
	EITEL VADIADIE
L N CMU	FUEL VARIABLE
	MOISTURE VARIABLE
	HEAT CONTENT HIGH
	SUDEACE DIFENSITY
ן ממז	DEVICUS DAVS DIT
IPK	PREVIOUS DAIS INI.
	REACTION INTENSITY
JD JD	DATE OF SUMMER
л Т	I DAK
ר תת	MASS DENSITY
rd DE	BULK DENSITY
	PROP.FLUX RATIO
QI	HEAT SINK I HOUR
Q10	HEAT SINK TO HOUR
Q100	HEAT SINK TOU HOUR
QD OF	HEAT SINK DEAD
Qr	HEAT SINK FULIAGE
QL	HEAT SINK LITTER
QLIVE	HEAT SINK LIVE
QM	HEAT SINK MOSS
QS OT	HEAT SINK SHRUBS
QI	MEAN HEAT SINK
K	KAIE OF SPREAD
KVALUE	POT. CROWN R. OF SP.
S GT	MINERAL CONTENT
PL O	SLOPE IN DEGREES
SLC	SLOPE COEFFICIENT
1	REACTION RATE

TR U UC UE UV **V**1 V10 V100 VDEAD VF VL VLIVE VM VS VT W W1 W10 W100 WDEAD WF WF WL WLIVE WM WMIX WS Z1Z10 Z100 ZF ZL ZM ZN

ZS

TM

MAX. REACTION RATE **RESIDENCE TIME** WINDSPEED WIND COEFFICIENT EFFECTIVE WINDSPEED WIND VARIABLE SA/VOL 1HOUR FUELS SA/VOL 10HOUR FUELS SA/VOL 100HOUR FUELS SA/VOL DEAD FUELS SA/VOL FOLIAGE SA/VOL LITTER SA/VOL LIVE FUELS SA/VOL MOSS SA/VOL SHRUB WOOD MEAN FUEL BED SA/VOL TOTAL FUEL LOAD ADJUSTED 1 H LOAD ADJUSTED 10 H LOAD ADJUSTED 100 H LOAD ADJ. DEAD LOAD WIND ADJUSTMENT ADJ. FOLIAGE LOAD ADJUSTED LITTER LOAD ADJUSTED LIVE LOAD ADJUSTED MOSS LOAD MEAN ADJ. FUEL LOAD ADJUSTED SHRUB LOAD 1 HOUR FUEL LOAD 10 HOUR FUEL LOAD 100 HOUR FUEL LOAD FOLIAGE LOAD LITTER LOAD MOSS LOAD TREE NEEDLE LOAD SHRUB WOOD LOAD

80

Fuel Moisture Program and Symbols. This program was written in FORTRAN and compiled using WATFOR77 compiler. Moisture contents were all based on published equations: Litter moisture content was determined as the moisture equivalent of the Fine Fuel Moisture Code of the Fire Weather Index (Van Wagner 1987<sup>3</sup>). Moss/lichen moisture content was determined from equations by Pech (1989). All other moisture contents were determined using National Fire Danger Rating System equations (Bradshaw *et al.* 1984).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Van Wagner, C.E. 1987. Development and Structure of the Canadian Forest Fire Weather Index System. Can. For. Serv. Ottawa, Ontario. For. Tech. Rep. 35.

C FUEL MOISTURE PROGRAM INTEGER DY CHARACTER\*12 SITE

> OPEN(10,FILE='(T)C:\INPUT.DAT') OPEN(11,FILE='(T)C:\OUTPUT.DAT')

- 10 CONTINUE
- С INITIALIZATION OF VARIABLES AM100=20 AM1000=25 X1000=25 DA=25 . DB=25 DC=25 DD=25 DE=25 DF=25 AMA=25 AMB=25 AMC=25 AMD=25 AME=25 AMF=25 HM=0 SM=0 A=0 AMY=150
- C INPUT SITE, LATITUDE AND YEAR READ(10,1000,END=30)SITE,PHI,YR
- 1000 FORMAT(A12,F7.2,F6.0)

WRITE(11,\*) 'MOISTURE VALUES AND WINDSPEED FOR ',SITE, YR WRITE(11,\*) 'MONTH DAY MLITT M1 M10 M1000 MMOSS MHERB MSHRUB WINDSP' WRITE(11,\*) ' % % % % % % % % (M/S) '

C LEAP YEAR FACTOR IY=YR/4 IY=IY\*4 IF (YR .EQ. IY) E=1 IF (YR .NE. IY) E=0

C BEGIN LOOP

20 CONTINUE READ(10,\*) MO,DY,T,H,WS,PA,F IF (MO .EQ. 999) GO TO 10

CALCULATION OF MOSS AND LICHEN MOISTURE CONTENT IF (T .LE. 0) TX=0 IF (T .GT. 0) TX=T IF (H.LE. 40) EX=0.136\*H\*\*1.07+13\*EXP((H-100)/10) IF (H.GT. 40 .AND. H.LT. 75) EX=-4.013+0.2772\*H+0.18\*(21.1-T)\*(1-1/EXP(0.1\*(H-40))) IF (H .GE. 75) EX=0.618\*H\*\*0.753+10\*EXP((H-100)/10)+0.18\*(21.1-T) \*(1-1/EXP(0.1\*(H-40))) IF (PA .GT. 0) THEN AMMOSS=AMY+(150\*(400-AMY)/(150+AMY)) \*(1-EXP(-0.00125\*(400-AMY)\*PA)) ELSE IF (PA .EQ. 0) THEN IF (EX .LT. AMY) THEN AKO=0.424\*(1-(H/100)\*\*1.7)+(0.069\*WS\*\*0.5)\*(1-(H/100)\*\*8) AK=AKO\*(1.378\*EXP(0.0365\*TX)) AMMOSS=EX+(AMY-EX)\*10\*\*(-AK) ELSE IF (EX .EQ. AMY) THEN AMMOSS=AMY ELSE IF (EX .GT. AMY) THEN

AMMOSS=AMY ELSE IF (EX .GT. AMY) THEN AKO=0.424\*(1-((100-H)/100)\*\*1.7)+(0.0694\*WS\*\*0.5) \*(1-(100-H)/100)\*\*8 AK=AKO\*(1.378\*EXP(0.0365\*\*TX)) AMMOSS=EX-(EX-AMY)\*10\*\*(-AK) END IF

END IF AMY=AMMOSS

С

- C CONVERSION OF UNITS TO U.S.A. MEASURES T=1.8\*T+32 PA=PA/25.4
- C JULIAN DATE J=(31\*(MO-1)+DY-0.4\*MO-1.8+E)
- C WIND SPEED KM PER HOUR TO M PER S WS=WS/3.6
- C DRY FUEL MOISTURE CALCULATIONS IF (H .LT. 10) EMC=0.03299+0.281073\*H-0.000578\*H\*T IF (H .GE. 10 .AND. H .LT. 50) EMC=2.22749+0.160107\*H-0.01478\*T IF (H .GE. 50) EMC=21.0606+0.005565\*H\*\*2-0.00035\*H\*T-0.483199\*H D=0.41008\*SIN(0.01721\*(J-82)) HL=24\*(1-ACOS(TAN(PHI)\*TAN(D))/3.1415926538) EMCAV=((24-HL)\*23+HL\*EMC)/24 IPD=((PA+0.02)/0.05) IF (IPD .GT. 8) IPD=8 D100=((24-IPD)\*EMCAV+(0.5\*IPD+41)\*IPD)/24 AM100B=AM100 D1000=((24-IPD)\*EMCAV+(2.7\*IPD+76)\*IPD)/24 DAV=(DA+DB+DC+DD+DE+DF+D1000)/7

DA=DB DB=DC DC=DD DD=DE DE=DF DF=D1000 AM1000=AMA+(DAV-AMA)\*0.3068 DM1000=AM1000-AMF AMA=AMB AMB=AMC AMC=AMD AMD=AME AME=AMF AMF=AM1000 IF (DM1000 .LT. 0) AK1=1 IF (DM1000 .GE. 0) AK1=0.0333\*DM1000+0.1675 IF (T.GT. 65) AK2=1 IF (T .LE. 65) AK2=0.6

C CALCULATION OF DEAD FUEL MOISTURE CONTENTS IF (IPD .EQ. 8) THEN AM1=35 AM10=35 ELSE IF (IPD .NE. 8) THEN AM1=1.03\*EMC AM10=1.28\*EMC END IF AM100=AM100B+(D100-AM100B)\*0.3165 AMLITT=147.2\*(101-F)/(59.5+F)

- C CALCULATIONS FOR LIVE HERB AND SHRUB MOISTURE CONTENTS X1000B=X1000 AN=(J-135.)/21. X1000=X1000B+AK1\*AK2\*DM1000
- C PRE-GREEN-UP STAGE IF (AN .LT. 0) THEN AMHERB=AM1 AMSHRB=70
- C GREEN-UP STAGE ELSE IF (AN .GE. 0 .AND. AN .LE. 1) THEN AMHERB=AM1+AN\*(-42.7+9.8\*X1000-AM1) AMSHRB=70+AN\*(-22.5+8.9\*AM1000-70)
- C POST-GREEN-UP STAGE ELSE IF (AN .GT. 1) THEN AMHERB=-137.5+15.5\*X1000 AMSHRB=-22.5+8.9\*AM1000 IF (AMHERB .LE. 30) HM=1 IF (AMSHRB .LT. 70) SM=1

IF (J .GE. 243 .AND. T .LE. 32) THEN IF (T .LE. 25) A=A+5 IF (T .GT. 25) A=A+1 END IF END IF IF (A .GE. 5) THEN HM=1 SM=1 END IF IF (HM .EQ. 1) AMHERB=AM1 IF (SM .EQ. 1) AMSHRB=70 WRITE(11,1001) MO,DY,AMLITT,AM1,AM10,AM100,AM1000,AMMOSS,AMHERB, AMSHRB,WS

1001 FORMAT (I4,I6,F7.0,F4.0,F5.0,F7.0,F7.0,F6.0,F7.0,F8.0,F7.2)

GO TO 20

STOP END

#### INPUT VARIABLES

 $\mathbf{n}$ 

.

DY	DAY	
F	FINE FUEL MOISTURE CODE	
H	RELATIVE HUMIDITY	%
MO	MONTH	
PA	PRECIPITATION AMOUNT	mm
PHI	LATITUDE OF WEATHER STATION	deg
SITE	WEATHER STATION	
Т	TEMPERATURE	°C
WS	WIND SPEED	km h <sup>-۱</sup>
YR	YEAR	

# OUTPUT VARIABLES

AM1	1 HOUR TIMELAG FUEL MOISTURE CONTENT	%
AM10	10 HOUR TIMELAG FUEL MOISTURE CONTENT	%
AM10	100 HOUR TIMELAG FUEL MOISTURE CONTENT	%
AM1000	1000 HOUR TIMELAG FUEL MOISTURE CONTENT	%
AMLITT	LITTER MOISTURE CONTENT	%
AMMOSS	MOSS MOISTURE CONTENT	%
AMHERB	HERBACEOUS FUEL MOISTURE CONTENT	%
AMSHRB	SHRUB FUEL MOISTURE CONTENT	%
WS	WIND SPEED	m s <sup>-1</sup>

# CALCULATION VARIABLES AND CONSTANTS

Α	FREEZING SEVERITY VALUE
AK	SECONDARY FACTOR IN MOSS MOISTURE CALCULATION
AK1	DRYING/WETTING FACTOR FOR HERBACEOUS FUELS
AK2	TEMPERATURE FACTOR FOR HERBACEOUS FUELS
AKO	PRIMARY FACTOR IN MOSS MOISTURE CALCULATION
AM100B	PREVIOUS DAY MOISTURE 100 HOUR MOISTURE CONTENT
AMA	1000 HOUR MOISTURE CONTENT FROM 6 DAYS PREVIOUS
AMB	1000 HOUR MOISTURE CONTENT FROM 5 DAYS PREVIOUS
AMC	1000 HOUR MOISTURE CONTENT FROM 4 DAYS PREVIOUS
AMD	1000 HOUR MOISTURE CONTENT FROM 3 DAYS PREVIOUS
AME	1000 HOUR MOISTURE CONTENT FROM 2 DAYS PREVIOUS
AMF	1000 HOUR MOISTURE CONTENT FROM 1 DAY PREVIOUS
AMY	PREVIOUS DAY MOSS MOISTURE
AN	GREEN-UP STAGE INDICATOR
D	ANGLE OF SOLAR DECLINATION
D100	24 HOUR MEAN BOUNDARY CONDITION (100 H FUELS)
D1000	24 HOUR MEAN BOUNDARY CONDITION (1000 H FUELS)
DA	1000 HOUR BOUNDARY CONDITION 6 DAYS PREVIOUS
DAV	MEAN 7 DAY 1000 HOUR BOUNDARY CONDITION
DB	1000 HOUR BOUNDARY CONDITION 5 DAYS PREVIOUS
DC	1000 HOUR BOUNDARY CONDITION 4 DAYS PREVIOUS
DD	1000 HOUR BOUNDARY CONDITION 3 DAYS PREVIOUS
DE	1000 HOUR BOUNDARY CONDITION 2 DAYS PREVIOUS
DF	1000 HOUR BOUNDARY CONDITION 1 DAY PREVIOUS
DM1000	TODAYS MINUS YESTERDAYS 1000 HOUR MOISTURE
E	LEAP YEAR CATEGORY
EMC	EQUILIBRIUM MOISTURE CONTENT
EMCAV	WEIGHTED MEAN EQUILIBRIUM MOISTURE CONTENT
EX	EQUILIBR. MOISTURE IN MOSS MOISTURE CALCULATION
HL	DAY LENGTH
HM	HERBACEOUS FUELS CURING INDICATOR
IPD	PRECIPITATION DURATION
IY	LEAP YEAR DETERMINATION FACTOR
J	JULIAN DATE
SM	SHRUB FUELS CURING INDICATOR
TX	TEMPERATURE IN MOSS MOISTURE CALCULATION
X1000	LIVE FUEL MOISTURE RECOVERY VALUE
X1000B	PREVIOUS DAY LIVE FUEL MOISTURE RECOVERY VALUE

.